

PERTH, TUESDAY, 28 NOVEMBER 2000 No. 249

PUBLISHED BY AUTHORITY K. J. McRAE, ACTING GOVERNMENT PRINTER AT 3.30 PM

CONTENTS

PART 1

	Page
Building Societies Act 1976—Building Societies Amendment Regulations 2000	6626-7
Environmental Protection Act 1986—Environmental Protection (Northam Motor	
Cycle Club) Exemption Order 2000	6623-6
Local Government Act 1995—Disallowance of Local Law—City of Swan	6627
Police Act 1892—Police Force Amendment Regulations (No. 2) 2000	6628

PART 2

Agriculture	6629
Architects Board	6629
Censorship	6629-32
Land Administration	
Local Government	6633
Planning	6633-75
Public Notices—Deceased Estates	6675-6

IMPORTANT COPYRIGHT NOTICE

© State of Western Australia

This work is copyright. Apart from any use as permitted under the *Copyright Act 1968*, no part may be reproduced by any process without written permission from the Government Printer, State Law Publisher. Inquiries should be directed to the Manager Sales & Editorial, State Law Publisher, 10 William St, Perth 6000.

PUBLISHING DETAILS

The Western Australian *Government Gazette* is published by State Law Publisher for the State of Western Australia on Tuesday and Friday of each week unless disrupted by Public Holidays or unforeseen circumstances (changes to this arrangement will be advertised beforehand on the inside cover).

Special Government Gazettes containing notices of an urgent or particular nature are published periodically.

The following guidelines should be followed to ensure publication in the *Government Gazette*.

- Material submitted to the Executive Council prior to gazettal will require a copy of the signed Executive Council Minute Paper and in some cases the Parliamentary Counsel's Certificate.
- Copy should be received by the Manager (Sales and Editorial), State Law Publisher no later than 12 noon on Wednesday (Friday edition) or 12 noon on Friday (Tuesday edition).

Postal address: Delivery address:
State Law Publisher
P.O. Box 8448, Ground Floor,

Perth Business Centre 6849 10 William St. Perth, 6000

Telephone: 9321 7688 Fax: 9321 7536

• Lengthy or complicated notices should be forwarded early to allow for preparation. Failure to observe this request could result in the notice being held over.

If it is necessary through isolation or urgency to fax copy, confirmation is not required by post. *If original copy is forwarded later and published, the cost will be borne by the advertiser.*

ADVERTISING RATES AND PAYMENTS

EFFECTIVE FROM 1 JULY 2000 (Prices include GST).

Deceased Estate notices, (per estate)—\$19.91

Real Estate and Business Agents and Finance Brokers Licences, (per notice)—\$46.53

Other articles in Public Notices Section—\$46.53 (except items of an exceptionally large nature. In these instances arrangements will be made for pricing the notice at time of lodging).

All other Notices

Per Column Centimetre-\$9.24

Bulk Notices-\$172.70 per page

Clients who have an account will be invoiced for advertising charges.

Clients without an account will need to pay at time of lodging the notice.



GOVERNMENT GAZETTE

PUBLISHING DETAILS FOR CHRISTMAS 2000 AND NEW YEAR HOLIDAY PERIOD 2001

Publishing Dates and times

Closing Dates and Times for copy

Friday 29 December 2000 at 3.30 pm

Wednesday 27 December at 12 noon

Friday 5 January 2001 at 3.30 pm

Wednesday 3 January 2001 at 12 noon

Government Gazettes will not be published on Tuesday 26th December 2000 or Tuesday 2nd January 2001

From week commencing January 8 normal publishing resumes.



— PART 1 —

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

EP301*

Environmental Protection Act 1986

Environmental Protection (Northam Motor Cycle Club) Exemption Order 2000

Made by the Minister with the approval of the Governor in Executive Council under section 6 of the Act.

1. Citation

This order may be cited as the *Environmental Protection* (Northam Motor Cycle Club) Exemption Order 2000.

2. Commencement and expiry

This order comes into operation on the day on which it is published in the *Gazette* and, subject to section 6 of the Act, expires on 31 December 2001.

3. Definitions

In this order —

- "Director" means the Director of the Pollution Prevention Division of the Department of Environmental Protection, 141 St George's Terrace, Perth, Western Australia;
- "meeting" means a series of races held on one day at the race track;
- "operator" means Northam District Motor Cycle Club of W.A. Incorporated;
- "period of exemption" means the period during which this order is in operation;
- "race track" means the Rushton Park motorcycle racing track, located at Northam Lot 419, as defined on Department of Land Administration diagram 89523;
- **"racing"** includes trials, testing, practice, exhibition runs and promotional presentations.

4. Application

This order applies only while the operator remains the sole operator of the race track.

5. Declaration of exemption and requirement to comply

- (1) Part V of the Act (except for sections 71, 74, 76, 77 and 78) and, subject to clause 8(1) of Schedule 1, the *Environmental Protection (Noise) Regulations 1997* are declared not to apply to noise emitted by motorcycles used
 - (a) for racing at a meeting held in accordance with this order; or
 - (b) in accordance with written approval given to the operator by the Town of Northam.
- (2) The declaration under subclause (1) is subject to the conditions specified in Schedule 1.
- (3) The operator is required to comply with the conditions specified in Schedule 1 and is liable for any costs of that compliance.

Schedule 1 — Conditions of exemption

[cl. 5]

1. Use of race track to comply with order or written approval

The race track is to be used only —

- (a) for racing at a meeting held in accordance with this order; or
- (b) in accordance with written approval given to the operator by the Town of Northam.

2. Number of meetings

- (1) No more than 16 meetings are to be held during the period of exemption.
- (2) A meeting is not to be held on more than 2 consecutive days.

3. Duration of meetings

- (1) A meeting is to be held only on a Saturday, Sunday or public holiday.
- (2) Racing at a meeting is not to begin before 9 a.m. and is to end not later than 5 p.m.

4. Noise emissions of motorcycles

A motorcycle used for racing at a meeting or in accordance with the written approval referred to in clause 1(b) is not to emit noise that exceeds 102 dB(A) when measured in accordance with rule 5.7.2.1 in the 2000 manual of motorcycle sport published by Motorcycling Australia Ltd.

5. Meetings at which noise levels are to be measured

- (1) The level of noise emissions from the race track is to be measured during 2 meetings agreed to by the Director and the operator that take place during the period of exemption.
- (2) If the Director and the operator are unable to reach agreement in relation to the meetings referred to in subclause (1), those meetings are to be determined by the Minister.

6. Method of measurement

- (1) The level of noise emissions from the race track during a meeting is to be measured at locations agreed to by the Director and the operator that are at or near residential premises in the vicinity of the race track.
- (2) If the Director and the operator are unable to reach agreement in relation to the locations referred to in subclause (1), those locations are to be determined by the Minister.
- (3) The measurements of the level of noise emissions from the race track during a meeting are to be recorded on magnetic tape and, to the extent practicable, continuously during the period from the beginning of racing at the meeting to the end of that racing.

7. Report of measurements

- (1) A written report is to be prepared in a form and of a standard approved by the Director on the measurements of the level of noise emissions recorded during a meeting.
- (2) A copy of the report is to be given to the Minister, the chief executive officer of the Town of Northam and the Director within 21 days after the meeting during which the measurements are recorded.

8. Compliance of instruments

- (1) An instrument used to measure levels of noise emissions for the purposes of this order is to be calibrated in accordance with, and is otherwise to comply with, Schedule 4 to the *Environmental Protection (Noise) Regulations 1997*.
- (2) A person who operates the instrument is to be approved by the Director.

9. Notice of proposed meetings to be given to local residents

- (1) Written notice is to be delivered to all residential premises in Purkiss Drive, Northam
 - (a) within 14 days after this order comes into operation of the times and dates when meetings are proposed to be held in 2000 after this order comes into operation; and
 - (b) during the period from 1 to 15 December 2000 of the times and dates when meetings are proposed to be held in 2001.

- (2) If there is a change to the times or date of a meeting of which notice has been given under subclause (1) ("the original notice"), written notice of the new times or new date of the meeting is to be delivered to all residential premises in Purkiss Drive, Northam
 - (a) if the meeting is to be held on a day that is earlier than the day specified in the original notice not less than 14 days before the new date of the meeting; or
 - (b) in any other case not less than 14 days before the day specified in the original notice.

10. Inspectors to be given access to the race track

- (1) Inspectors and their assistants are to be given all reasonable access to the race track and its car parking facilities for the purposes of performing functions relating to the monitoring and measuring of levels of noise emissions at a meeting.
- (2) In subclause (1)
 - **"inspectors"** means inspectors appointed under section 88 of the Act or engaged by the Town of Northam.

CHERYL EDWARDES, Minister for the Environment

Approved by the Governor,

M. C. WAUCHOPE, Clerk of the Executive Council.

Housing

HM301*

Building Societies Act 1976

Building Societies Amendment Regulations 2000

Made by the Governor in Executive Council.

1. Citation

These regulations may be cited as the *Building Societies Amendment Regulations 2000*.

2. Regulation 15 replaced

Regulation 15 of the *Building Societies Regulations 1977** is repealed and the following regulation is inserted instead —

"

15. Directors' fees — maximum amounts

- (1) For the purposes of section 61(3) of the Act, the following maximum amounts are prescribed
 - (a) in the case of a director who is the chairman of the board of a society
 - (i) \$359 per day;
 - (ii) \$237 per part day;
 - (b) in the case of any other director
 - (i) \$239 per day;
 - (ii) \$158 per part day.
- (2) In subregulation (1) —

"day" means a period of 4 hours or more;
"part day" means a period of less than 4 hours.

,,

[* Published in Gazette 4 March 1977, pp. 667-84. For amendments to 3 October 2000 see 1999 Index to

Legislation of Western Australia, Table 4, p. 23.]

By Command of the Governor,

M. C. WAUCHOPE, Clerk of the Council.

PARLIAMENT

PA301*

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1995

Disallowance of Local Law

City of Swan

It is hereby notified for public information that the Legislative Council has disallowed the following Local Law made under the Local Government Act 1995—

Clause 8(c) of the *City of Swan—Local Law Relating to Prevention and Abatement of Sand Drift*, published in the *Gazette* on August 8 2000 and tabled in the Legislative Council on August 10 2000 under the *Local Government Act 1995*.

Disallowance is effective on and from Wednesday, November 22 2000.

L. B. MARQUET, Clerk of the Parliaments.

POLICE

PE301*

Police Act 1892

Police Force Amendment Regulations (No. 2) 2000

Made by the Commissioner of Police, with the approval of the Minister for Police under section 9.

1. Citation

These regulations may be cited as the *Police Force Amendment Regulations (No. 2) 2000*.

2. The regulations amended

The amendments in these regulations are to the *Police Force Regulations 1979**.

[* Reprinted 30 January 1996. For amendments to 13 October 2000 see 1999 Index to Legislation of Western Australia, Table 4, pp. 215-6.]

3. Regulation 704 amended

- (1) Regulation 704 is amended by inserting before "Where" the subregulation designation "(1)".
- (2) At the end of regulation 704 the following subregulation is inserted
 - (2) The Commissioner may delegate to an officer of the rank of Superintendent or higher the power conferred on the Commissioner under subregulation (1).

Signed:

B. MATTHEWS, Commissioner of Police.

Approved:

KEVIN PRINCE, Minister for Police.

E vii vii vee, minister for rone

— PART 2 —

ARCHITECTS BOARD

AE401

ARCHITECTS ACT 1921

THE ARCHITECTS BOARD OF WESTERN AUSTRALIA

As of the 7th November 2000, the Board removed from the register for the non-payment of subscription (due February 2000) the following natural persons—

Registration No.	<u>Name</u>
1090	Maxwell Roy Barcham
1709	John Anthony Barrett
1416	Christopher Barton
240	William Milton Barton
1732	Jane Elizabeth Bennetts
699	Mario Bernardi
687	Peter Phillip Combley
778	Linton Edwin Fariss
817	Desmond Allan Ferris
629	Neil Raymond Garvey
925	Lance Charles Jones
850	Peter Alan LeMay
1806	Gita Siva
1679	Richard Robert Tunbridge

JOAN McINTYRE, Registrar.

AGRICULTURE

AG401

MARKETING OF POTATOES ACT 1946

Agriculture Western Australia, South Perth WA 6151.

408/86 V4.

I, Montague Grant House, being the Minister for Primary Industry; Fisheries in the State of Western Australia, appoint pursuant to Sections 7 and 12 of the Marketing of Potatoes Act, Mrs Pauline Tew as a member for a term of office expiring on 20 February 2004, of the Potato Marketing Corporation of Western Australia.

MONTY HOUSE, Minister for Primary Industry; Fisheries.

CENSORSHIP

CS401*

CENSORSHIP ACT 1996

I, CHERYL LYNN EDWARDES, being the Minister administering the Censorship Act 1996, acting in the exercise of the powers conferred by Section 15 of that Act, do hereby determine that the publications specified in the schedule below shall be classified as refused publications for the purposes of that Act. Dated this 22nd day of November 2000.

CHERYL LYNN EDWARDES, Minister for Labour Relations.

Schedule 14 November 2000 Refused Classification

Title or Description Publisher

Blueboy Nov 2000 Vol 11 No 8 Global Media Group Ltd Candy 1995 Vol 2 No 2 **Candy Publications Ltd** Chastise (Special Compendium Edition) Vol 1 Iss 10 Stone Castle Publishing Cheri Jun 2000 Vol 24 No 12 Cheri Magazine Inc Domina Nation No 4 **R-H Fashions**

Exciting No 58 **Color-Climax Corporation** Exciting No 62 **Color-Climax Corporation** Exciting No 63 **Color-Climax Corporation**

Fox Oct 2000 Vol 19 No 4 **Montcalm Publishing Corporation**

Janus No 138 Pale Horse Limited Kane No 83 J Harrison-Marks Nugget Oct 2000 Vol 44 Iss 10 **Dugent Corp** Nugget Nov 2000 Vol 44 Iss 11 **Dugent Corp**

Pink (Special Erotica No 1) No 8 Pleasure-Verlag GMBH Rubber Sex (Rubberist Iss 26, Rubberist Iss 22, Shiny's G & M Fashions (Leisure) Ltd

Rubberist No 15) Iss 1

Rubber Sex (Dressing for Pleasure Special No 3, Dressing G & M Fashions (Leisure) Ltd

for Pleasure No 28, Dressing for Pleasure No 27) Iss 2

Strictly Uniforms Iss 14 **Imprints**

CS402*

CENSORSHIP ACT 1996

I, CHERYL LYNN EDWARDES, being the Minister administering the Censorship $Act\ 1996$, acting in the exercise of the powers conferred by Section 15 of that Act, do hereby determine that the publications specified in the schedule below shall be classified as restricted publications for the purposes of that Act.

Dated this 22nd day of November 2000

CHERYL LYNN EDWARDES. Minister for Labour Relations.

Schedule

14 November 2000 Restricted Classification

Publisher

Title or Description

Adam Film World Guide (XXX Movie Illustrated) Nov 2000 Knight Publishing Corp

Vol 13 No 9

Australasian Sexpaper Nov 2000 No 110 XPress (Australia) Int Pty Ltd

Barely 18 Vol 1 No 21 Top-Flite Inc Barely 18 Special (Just Legal) Vol 1 No 1 D&T Publ Co Inc

Best of Hustler Beaver Hunt Vol 16 LFP Inc

Blueboy Oct 2000 Vol 11 No 7 Global Media Group Ltd Blueboy Dec 2000 Vol 11 No 10 Global Media Group Ltd

Chic Aug 2000 Vol 24 No 10 LFP Inc

Club Nov 2000 Vol 26 No 10 Paragon Publishing Inc

Restricted Classification—continued

Title or Description

Club Confidential Oct 2000 Vol 9 No 10

Club International Vol 29 No 10

Club International Oct 2000 Vol 24 Iss 10

Domand Iss 7

Dude Sep 2000 Vol 4 No 7 Erotic Passion No 14

Escort (Readers' Wives) No 25 Finally Legal Nov 2000 Vol 2 No 11

Footsy Vol 5 No 1 Freeway Iss 195

Genesis Oct 2000 No 38 Genesis Nov 2000 No 39 Gent Oct 2000 No 38 Gent Nov 2000 No 39

Girls/Girls (Asia 18) Dec 2000 No 38

Hawk Nov 2000 Vol 9 No 11

High Society Nov 2000 Vol 25 No 11 Hustler Oct 2000 Vol 27 No 4

Hustler Nov 2000 Vol 27 No 5 International Repartee Iss 35 Jock Nov 2000 Vol 10 No 8

Kinky Iss 4

Latin Inches Aug-Sep 2000

Leg Man Vol 1 Iss 5

Leg Sex Oct 2000 Vol 4 No 5

Leg Tease Oct 2000

Live Young Girls Oct 2000 Vol 20 No 9 Machismo Aug 2000 Vol 6 Iss 4 Machismo Oct 2000 Vol 6 Iss 5

Mating Club Vol 1 Iss 3 Mens World Vol 12 No 11

Naughty Neighbors Nov 2000 Vol 6 No 11

Numbers Oct 2000 Vol 11 No 5 Oui Dec 2000 Vol 30 Iss 12 Petite Nov 2000 No 30

Pirate No 64

Pleasure Vol 27 No 156

Prestige No 3

Private Mega Pack (Pirate No 42, Private No 142,

Triple X No 12)
Razzle Vol 18 No 10
Rodox No 81
Satisfaction No 8
Schulmadchen No 88
Shaved Orientails Vol 7 No 3

Shiny Iss 99 Skin Two Iss 33 Soho Iss 2

Sugah Oct 2000 No 31 Swank Oct 2000 No 31 Swank Nov 2000 No 39 Swank Dec 2000 No 40

Swank's Silk Stocking Oct 2000 No 31

The Best of Cheri (Special Edition #134) Vol 23 No 3

The Girls of Penthouse Sep-Oct 2000

The Picture Premium Iss 26

The Very Best of High Society #124 Vol 17 No 8 The Very Best of High Society #125 Vol 17 No 9

Triple X No 38

Publisher Paragon Publishing Inc

Paul Raymond Publications Ltd

Paragon Publishing Inc

G & M Fashions (Leisure) Ltd

Dugent Corp

Creative Art Collection

Paul Raymond Publications Ltd

Dowager Inc
Denmart UK Ltd
Not Known

Genesis Publications Inc Genesis Publications Inc Gent Publications Inc Gent Publications Inc Gem Publications Inc Killer Joe Productions Inc

The Crescent Publishing Group Inc

LFP Inc

Rose's Publications Global Media Group Ltd G & M Fashions (Leisure) Ltd

Heat Publications Inc Denmart Publishing UK

The Score Group

World Media Group LLC Live Periodicals Inc Global Media Group Ltd Global Media Group Ltd Hotshot Nominees Pty Ltd Paul Raymond Publications Ltd

The Score Group

Global Media Group Ltd
Global Media Group Ltd
Gent Publications Inc
Milcap Publishing Group AB
Pleasure-Verlags GMBH
Color-Climax Corporation
Milcap Publishing Group AB

Paul Raymond Publications Ltd Color-Climax Corporation Color-Climax Corporation Silwa Film GMBH Tribecca Publishing

G & M Fashions (Leisure) Ltd Tim Woodward Publishing Ltd Paul Raymond Publications Ltd Chestnut Publications Inc Swank Publications Inc Swank Publications Inc Swank Publications Inc Dogwood Publications Inc

General Media Communications Inc

ACP Extra

The Crescent Publishing Group The Crescent Publishing Group

Milcap Media Group AB

Cheri Magazine Inc

Restricted Classification—continued

Title or Description Publisher
Voluptuous Nov 2000 Vol 7 No 11 The Score Group

Xmania No 9 MGM Moser Grupo Media SL

YoungStars Vol 2 No 1 All Coasts Inc

CS403*

CENSORSHIP ACT 1996

I, CHERYL LYNN EDWARDES, being the Minister administering the Censorship Act 1996, acting in the exercise of the powers conferred by Section 15 of that Act, do hereby determine that the publications specified in the schedule below shall be classified as unrestricted publications for the purposes of that Act.

Dated this 22nd day of November 2000.

CHERYL LYNN EDWARDES, Minister for Labour Relations.

Schedule

14 November 2000

Unrestricted Classification

Title or Description Publisher
Perfect 10 Oct-Nov 2000 Vol 3 No 4 Perfect 10 Inc

LAND ADMINISTRATION

LA401

LAND ACT 1933

FORFEITURES

Department of Land Administration.

The following licence together with all rights, title and interest therein have this day been forfeited to the Crown under the Land Act 1933 for the reasons stated.

Dated: 23 November 2000.

A. A. SKINNER, Chief Executive Officer.

Name Licence District Reason Corres. Plan Number Gil de Martos, 345B/3204 Roebourne 4512/1989 BJ65(2)10.26 Non payment of Alvaro Manuel Lot 771 purchase monies

LOCAL GOVERNMENT

LG401

BUSH FIRES ACT 1954

Shire of Westonia

NOTICE OF APPOINTMENT OF BUSH FIRE CONTROL OFFICERS

In accordance with Section 38 of the Bush Fire Act the following officers have been appointed Bush Fire Control Officers for the Shire of Westonia—

Chief Bush Fire Control Officer-J. A. Della Bosca

Deputy Chief Bush Fire Control Officer—A. S. Smith

Fire Control Officers-

C. Lindley
J. Corsini
G. LeMoignan
M. Lane
F. Corsini
G. Wahlsten
D. Brown
G. LeMoignan
M. Lane
F. Corsini
J. Hobbs.

Fire Weather Officers-

B. Price

Deputy Fire Weather Control Officers—

A. Day D. LeMoignan

W. Geier

Dual Fire Control Officers-

Merredin Shire-D. Brown

Nungarin/Merredin Shire's—M. Lane Mukinbudin Shire—G. LeMoignan

Yilgarn Shire—A. Smith

All previous appointments are cancelled.

A. W. PRICE, Chief Executive Officer.

PLANNING

PD401

TOWN PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT ACT, 1928

ADVERTISEMENT OF APPROVED TOWN PLANNING SCHEME AMENDMENT $SHIRE\ OF\ SERPENTINE\text{-}JARRAHDALE$

TOWN PLANNING SCHEME No. 2—AMENDMENT No. 99

Ref. 853/2/29/3 Pt 99

It is hereby notified for public information, in accordance with Section 7 of the Town Planning and Development Act, 1928 (as amended) that the Hon Minister for Planning approved the Shire of Serpentine-Jarrahdale Town Planning Scheme Amendment on 19 November 2000 for the purpose of—

- 1. Rezoning Lot 223 cnr Orton & Hopkinson Roads, Byford, from "Rural" to "Rural Living A" as depicted on the Scheme Amendment Map; and
- 2. Amending Appendix 4A of the Scheme to include special provisions relating to the "Rural Living A" zone described hereunder—
 - (a) SPECIFIED AREA OF LOCALITY

Lot 223 cnr Orton & Hopkinson Roads, Byford

- (b) SPECIAL PROVISIONS TO REFER TO (a)
 - 1. Within the Rural Living A zone the following land uses are permitted, or are permitted at the discretion of the Council.

Use classes permitted (P)

Single House

Public Recreation

Public Utility

Discretionary Uses (AA)

Ancillary Accommodation

Home Occupation

Rural Use/Intensive Agriculture

Stables

All other uses are prohibited.

- In exercising its discretion in respect to AA uses, the Council having regard to the Planning Guidelines for Nutrient Management shall only permit such uses when it is satisfied following consultation with government agencies that the land use does not involve excessive nutrient application or clearing of land.
- 2. No dwelling shall be approved by the Council unless it is connected to an alternative domestic waste water treatment system as approved by the Health Department of WA with an adequate phosphorus retention capacity, as determined by the Department of Environmental Protection, and with the base of the system or the modified irrigation area being the required distance above the highest known water table.
- 3. No indigenous vegetation and trees shall be destroyed or cleared except, but subject to the developer of the estate/landowner obtaining the prior consent, in writing, of the Council where such vegetation is dead, diseased or where the clearing is required for the purpose of a firebreak, dwelling, outbuilding, fence, drainage systems, driveways and/or to accommodate the discretionary uses identified under Provision 1.
- 4. The subdivider shall, in accordance with the endorsed Subdivision Guide Plan and the Schedule of Landscaping for this estate plant indigenous trees and shrubs of a species and at a density and distribution to the satisfaction of the Council prior to the transfer of a lot(s) to a new owner.
- 5. The subdivider shall either maintain the trees and shrubs planted until the land is sold, or shall plant sufficient numbers of trees and shrubs to allow for natural loss. Thereafter, the owners of the subdivided lots shall be responsible for the maintenance and replacement (if and where necessary) of those trees and shrubs planted by the subdivider to the satisfaction of the Council.
- 6. The subdivider shall prepare and implement a Fire Management Plan that identifies and implements the construction requirements relative to strategic firebreaks, water supplies and equipment and any other fire management requirements that may be deemed necessary, to the specification and satisfaction of the local authority and the Bush Fires Board of WA.
- 7. Notwithstanding the obligations of the subdivider under Clause 5.12.9e of the Scheme the subdivider shall drain the land and provide detention areas in accordance with a Drainage Concept Plan provided prior to the commencement of on-the-ground works. Those easements and reserves required by Council or Water Corporation shall be provided to the Council or Water Corporation at the time of subdivision to provide for the ongoing maintenance of the drainage system components.
- 8. At the time of the building application for each lot a plan of the site shall be submitted by the applicant to the satisfaction and specifications of the Council which shall show site contours, existing trees and stands of vegetation, those trees and vegetation to be removed and retained, and proposals for tree planting and maintenance.
 - In addition to this, the site plan and proposal shall demonstrate that the development and use of the land will not compromise the implementation of the overlay subdivision, as depicted on the endorsed Subdivision Guide Plan.
- 9. The land is situated within the catchment of the Peel-Harvey estuarine system where active nutrient management and responsible use of fertiliser is crucial to the health of the catchment and estuary. The application, type and distribution of fertiliser to the land shall be within limits set by the Department of Environmental Protection for irrigated and non-irrigated land.
- 10. Direct access to Hopkinson Road and/or Orton Road shall be prohibited. Any existing private access to Hopkinson Road and/or Orton Road is to be closed once internal access is established and the crossover revegetated with indigenous species to the satisfaction of Council.
- 11. The Council shall not support any application for subdivision of the land into Rural Living A lot sizes unless the subdivision is consistent with a Subdivision Guide Plan endorsed by Council and the Commission for whole or part of the area.
- 12. A Subdivision Guide Plan for the subdivision of land into Rural Living A lot sizes, shall have regard to the objectives set out in this Scheme for the zone or zones affected by it, and the requirements of Clause 5.9.3.
- 13. The Subdivision Guide Plan referred to in Clause 12 shall include and be accompanied by Technical Guidelines that provide a prescription for development and the implementation of subdivision in areas of planning, roadworks, drainage, effluent disposal, water, bushfire control, protection of the environment, landscaping, easements, landowner coordination, infrastructure cost sharing, controlling developments, or generally regulating or prescribing the use or development of land to overcome problems which would occur, should the land be developed.
- 14. Bridle paths shall be constructed by the subdivider in accordance with the Subdivision Guide Plan.
- 15. Width of the multiple use drainage corridor is to be to the satisfaction of the Western Australian Planning Commission in consultation with affected government agencies as determined at the subdivision stage, taking into account detailed engineering design requirements.

PD701*

TOWN PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT ACT, 1928

ADVERTISEMENT OF APPROVED TOWN PLANNING SCHEME

CITY OF JOONDALUP

DISTRICT PLANNING SCHEME No. 2

Ref: 853/2/34/2 Vol 3.

It is hereby notified for public information, in accordance with Section 7 of the Town Planning and Development Act, 1928 (as amended) that the Hon Minister for Planning approved the City of Joondalup Town Planning Scheme No 2 on 17 November 2000 the Scheme Text of which is published as a Schedule annexed hereto.

> J. BOMBAK, Mayor. L. DELAHAUNTY, Chief Executive Officer.

SCHEDULE

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PART 1—PRELIMINARY

- 1.1 Citation
- 1.2 Responsible Authority
- 1.3 The Scheme Area
- 1.4 Contents of Scheme
- 1.5 Arrangement of the Scheme Text
- 1.6 Scheme Aims and Objectives
- 1.7 Relationship with the Metropolitan Region Scheme
- 1.8 Relationship of Scheme to Local Laws
- 1.9 Interpretation

PART 2—RESERVES

- 2.1 Reserves
- 2.2 Metropolitan Region Scheme Reserves
- 2.3 Local Reserves

PART 3—ZONES

- 3.1 Classification
- 3.2 Zoning Table
- 3.3 Unlisted Uses
- 3.4 The Residential Zone
- 3.5 The Mixed Use Zone
- 3.6 The Business Zone 3.7 The Commercial Zone
- 3.8 The Civic and Cultural Zone
- 3.9 The Private Clubs/Recreation Zone
- 3.10 The Service Industrial Zone
- 3.11 The Centre Zone
- 3.12 The Urban Development Zone
- 3.13 The Special Residential Zone 3.14 The Rural Zone
- 3.15 Additional Uses (Schedule 2—Section 1)
- 3.16 Restricted Uses (Schedule 2—Section 2)
- 3.17 The Special Use Zone (Schedule 2—Section 3)
- 3.18 New Development Around Existing Railway Stations

PART 4—GENERAL DEVELOPMENT REQUIREMENTS

- 4.1 Exclusions
- 4.2 Residential Planning Codes
- 4.3 Special Application of Residential Planning Codes
- 4.4 Home Business
- 4.5 Variations to Site and Development Standards and Requirements
- 4.6 Environmental Conditions
- 4.7 Building Setbacks for Non Residential Buildings
- 4.8 Car Parking Standards
- 4.9 Pedestrian And Vehicle Reciprocal Access Requirements
- 4.10 Traffic Entrances
- 4.11 Car Parking—Cash in Lieu or Staging
 4.12 Landscaping Requirements for Non Residential Buildings
- 4.13 Minimum Lot Dimensions
- 4.14 Storage And Rubbish Accumulation
- 4.15 Commercial Vehicle Parking

PART 5—SPECIAL CONTROLS

- 5.1 Control of Advertisements
- 5.2 Heritage Protection
- 5.3 Landscape/Environment Protection
- 5.4 Purchase or Resumption

PART 6—DEVELOPMENT AND USE OF LAND

- 6.1 Application for Planning Approval
- 6.2 Application for Approval of Use
- 6.3 Procedures for Dealing with Applications Received
- 6.4 Referral to other Authorities
- 6.5 Deemed Refusal6.6 Dealing with "P", "D", "A" And "X" Uses
- 6.7 Public Notice
- 6.8 Matters to be Considered by Council
- 6.9 Power to Determine Applications for Planning Approval
- 6.10 Compliance with Conditions
- 6.11 Approvals on Appeal
- 6.12 Approval of Existing Developments

PART 7—NON-CONFORMING USES

- 7.1 Non-conforming Uses
- 7.2 Extensions and Changes to a Non-conforming Use
- 7.3 Discontinuance of Non-conforming Use
- 7.4 Termination of a Non-conforming Use

PART 8—FINANCE AND ADMINISTRATION

- 8.1 Additional Powers Of The Scheme
- 8.2 Amenity
- 8.3 Unkempt Land
- 8.4 Appeals 8.5 Compensation
- 8.6 Delegation of Development Control Powers, and Powers and Duties in Relation to Other **Planning Functions**
- 8.7 Entry To Premises
- 8.8 General Obligations
- 8.9 Notice For Removal of Certain Buildings
- 8.10 Offences
- 8.11 Local Planning Policies

PART 9—STRUCTURE PLANS

- 9.1 Council may require Structure Plan
- 9.2 Determination of Structure Plan Area
- 9.3 Matters to be Included
- 9.4 Submission of Structure Plan to Council
- 9.5 Public Notice
- 9.6 Consideration of Structure Plan
- 9.7 Amendment or Revocation of Agreed Structure Plan
- 9.8 Operation of Agreed Structure Plan
- 9.9 Compliance with Agreed Structure Plan
- 9.10 Copyright And Ownership
- 9.11 Development Prior to Adoption of Structure Plan 9.12 Reconsideration and Appeal
- 9.13 Structure Plans under Town Planning Scheme No.1

Tables and Schedules

- Table 1 (Clause 3.2)—The Zoning Table Table 2 (Clause 4.8)—Car Parking Standards
- Schedule 1 (Clause 1.9)—Interpretations
- Schedule 2—Section 1 (Clause 3.15)—Additional Uses
- Schedule 2—Section 2 (Clause 3.16)—Restricted Uses
- Schedule 2—Section 3 (Clause 3.17)—Special Use Zones Schedule 3 (Subclauses 3.7.2 & 3.11.4)—Commercial & Centre Zones
- Schedule 4 (Subclause 5.1.5)—Exempted Advertisements
 Schedule 5 (Clause 5.3.1)—Places and Objects Having Significance for the Purpose of Protection of the Landscape or Environment
- Schedule 6 (Clause 8.6)—Delegation of Development Control Powers Schedule 7 (Clause 9.3)—Structure Plans: Matters to be Included
- Schedule 8 (Clause 9.6)—Certification of Agreed Structure Plans
- Schedule 9 (Clause 4.6)—Environmental Conditions

CITY OF JOONDALUP DISTRICT PLANNING SCHEME NO. 2

The City of Joondalup Council, under and by virtue of the powers conferred upon it in that behalf by the Town Planning and Development Act, 1928 (as amended), hereunder referred to as The Act, hereby makes the following Town Planning Scheme for the purposes laid down in the Act.

PART 1—PRELIMINARY

1.1 CITATION

- 1.1.1 The City of Joondalup District Planning Scheme No. 2 ("the Scheme") comes into operation on its Gazettal date.
- 1.1.2 City of Joondalup Town Planning Scheme No. 1 (Gazettal date 13 September, 1972) is revoked.

1.2 RESPONSIBLE AUTHORITY

The authority responsible for carrying out the Scheme is the Council of the City of Joondalup hereinafter referred to as the "Council" except that where land is shown in the Scheme Map as "Regional Reserve" the responsible authority shall be deemed to be the Western Australian Planning Commission, and the Provisions of the Metropolitan Region Scheme shall apply to such reservations.

1.3 THE SCHEME AREA

The Scheme shall apply to the whole of the District of the City of Joondalup as shown by the inner edge of the broken black line on the Scheme Map.

1.4 CONTENTS OF SCHEME

The Scheme comprises—

- (a) this Scheme Text
- (b) the Scheme Map
- (c) Residential Density Code Maps
- (d) agreed Structure Plans

1.5 ARRANGEMENT OF THE SCHEME TEXT

PART 1—PRELIMINARY

PART 2—RESERVES

PART 3—ZONES

PART 4—GENERAL DEVELOPMENT REQUIREMENTS

PART 5—SPECIAL CONTROLS

PART 6-DEVELOPMENT AND USE OF LAND

PART 7—NON-CONFORMING USES

PART 8—FINANCE AND ADMINISTRATION

PART 9—STRUCTURE PLANS

1.6 SCHEME AIMS AND OBJECTIVES

The aims and objectives of Scheme 2 are—

Regional planning framework

(a) To facilitate the Council's commitment to facilitating urban development in accordance with the statutory provisions of the Metropolitan Region Scheme and the planning principles embodied in state and regional policies relevant to the City;

Local planning framework

- (b) To encourage and facilitate development of the City generally in accordance with the City of Joondalup Strategic Plan;
- (c) To provide an accountable planning framework appropriate to the needs of a regional City and its diverse lifestyle opportunities;
- (d) To facilitate the co-ordination and provision of social and community facilities and other physical infrastructure;

Land Use & Development

- (e) To encourage development which will—
 - · provide high standards of amenity, safety and welfare,
 - strive to ensure that new housing is energy-efficient,
 - ensure permanent and easy access by the public to the ocean shore and other recreation reserves,
 - promote the development of business which increases employment opportunities close to living places, and
 - support a safe, efficient and effective transportation system.
- (f) To encourage urban design which is compatible with and appropriate to the natural, built and social environment of the City;

Development Assessment & Approval Process

(g) To provide guidance on the procedures to be followed in the lodgment, assessment and determination of applications for the development and use of land within the City;

(h) To ensure that proper regard is given to the needs of the community in the determination of land use and development proposals;

Heritage Conservation

 To encourage the conservation and continued use of identified places and objects of cultural heritage significance;

Environmental Protection

- (j) To provide the Council and residents with appropriate mechanisms to protect identified places of landscape or environmental value within the City;
- (k) To ensure that adequate regard is given to the protection of the natural environment in the determination of land use and development proposals in accordance with sustainable development principles;

Urban Development

(l) To promote planning, management and strategic control of development in a rational and systematic manner, taking into account the needs and aspirations of residents, and the environmental capacity of the area.

1.7 RELATIONSHIP WITH THE METROPOLITAN REGION SCHEME

The Scheme is complementary to, and is not a substitute for, the Metropolitan Region Scheme, and the provisions of the Metropolitan Region Scheme, as amended, continue to have effect. The authority responsible for implementing the Metropolitan Region Scheme is the Western Australian Planning Commission (hereinafter called "the Commission").

1.8 RELATIONSHIP OF SCHEME TO LOCAL LAWS

Where a provision of this Scheme is inconsistent with any local law or by-law, the provisions of this Scheme shall prevail.

1.9 INTERPRETATION

- 1.9.1 Words and expressions used in the Scheme shall have the respective meanings given to them in Schedule 1 or elsewhere in the Scheme and the Residential Planning Codes.
- 1.9.2 Where a word or term is defined in the Residential Planning Codes then notwithstanding anything else in the Scheme that word or term when used in respect of residential development has the meaning given to it in the Residential Planning Codes.
- 1.9.3 Words and expressions used in the Scheme but not defined in Schedule 1, elsewhere in the Scheme or in the Residential Planning Codes shall have their normal and common meanings.

PART 2—RESERVES

2 1 RESERVES

Certain lands within the Scheme Area are shown on the Scheme Map and classified into either—

- (a) Metropolitan Region Scheme Reserves; or
- (b) Local Reserves.

2.2 METROPOLITAN REGION SCHEME RESERVES

2.2.1 The land shown as "Metropolitan Region Scheme Reserves" on the Scheme Map are lands reserved under the Metropolitan Region Scheme and are shown on the Scheme Map in order to comply with the Metropolitan Region Town Planning Scheme Act, 1959, as amended. Those lands are not reserved by this Scheme. The provisions of the Metropolitan Region Scheme continue to apply to such reserves.

2.2.2 Amendment of Metropolitan Region Scheme

Where, after the gazettal date, the Metropolitan Region Scheme is amended to zone a Regional Reserve, the Council shall treat an application for Planning Approval on such land as though the development involves a "D" use, and such of the provisions of Part 3 and Part 6 as are relevant to "D" uses shall apply until the Scheme has been amended to include the land in a zone or Local Reserve (see subclause 3.2.2).

2.3 LOCAL RESERVES

2.3.1 Local Reserves

"Local Reserves" are delineated and depicted on the Scheme Map according to the legend thereon.

2.3.2 Use of Local Reserves

Any Local Reserve not owned by or vested in the Council may be used-

- (a) for the purpose for which the land is reserved under the Scheme;
- (b) where such land is vested in a public authority, for any purpose for which such land may be lawfully used by that authority;
- (c) for the purpose for which it was used at the Gazettal Date unless the land in the meantime has become vested in a public authority, or unless such use has been changed with the approval of the Council; or
- (d) for any purpose approved by the Council but in accordance with any conditions imposed by the Council;

but shall not be used otherwise or for any other purpose.

2.3.3 Development of Local Reserves

Unless the proposed development is a public work exempted by Section 32 of the Act, or the written approval of the Council is first obtained, no person shall—

- (a) demolish or damage any building or works;
- (b) remove or damage any tree;
- (c) excavate spoil or waste the land so as to destroy affect or impair its usefulness for the purpose for which it is reserved;
- (d) construct, extend, or alter any building or structure other than a boundary fence;
- (e) carry out or commence to carry out any other development on any Local Reserve.

2.3.4 Applications for Planning Approval on Local Reserves

- 2.3.4.1 The Council may consider applications for Planning Approval for land within a Local Reserve but shall have due regard to the ultimate purpose intended for the Local Reserve and the matters set out in Clause 6.8 ("Matters to be Considered by Council").
- 2.3.4.2 Provisions in the Scheme relating to applications for Planning Approval and the exercise of any discretion thereon shall, insofar as they are not inconsistent with this clause, apply to Local Reserves.
- 2.3.4.3 To the extent that it is reasonable to do so, the Council shall apply or impose development standards and requirements which would be imposed for development of the kind in question on zoned land, and the Council shall for that purpose stipulate the zone most relevant for comparison.
- 2.3.4.4 Where any land is partly zoned under the Scheme and partly included in a Local Reserve, then the general provisions of the Scheme shall apply to the part which is zoned, and where the circumstances permit, the Council may give one decision in respect of the part of the land which is zoned and a different decision in respect of the part of the land included in the Local Reserve.
- 2.3.4.5 The Council shall, in the case of land reserved for the purposes of a public authority, consult with that authority before giving its approval.

2.3.5 Right of Disposal

The Council may deal with or dispose of land it has acquired for a Local Reserve upon such terms and conditions as it thinks fit provided that the land is used or preserved for the use for which the land is reserved.

PART 3—ZONES

3.1 CLASSIFICATION

3.1.1 There are hereby created the several zones set out hereunder.

Residential

Mixed Use

Business

Commercial

Civic & Cultural

Private Clubs/Recreation

Service Industrial

Centre

Urban Development

Special Residential

Rural

Special Use

3.1.2 The zones are delineated and depicted on the Scheme Map and Structure Plan Maps according to the legend thereon.

3.2 ZONING TABLE

- 3.2.1 The Zoning Table (hereinafter called Table1) indicates subject to the provisions of the Scheme, the permissibility of use classes within the various zones. The permissibility of any use class is indicated by a symbol determined by cross reference between the list of "Use Classes" listed down the left hand side of Table 1 and the "Zones" listed along the top of Table 1.
- 3.2.2 The symbols used in Table 1 have the following meanings—
 - "P" = A Use Class that is permitted but which may be subject to any conditions that the Council may wish to impose in granting its approval;
 - "D" = A Use Class that is not permitted, but to which the Council may grant its approval after following the procedures laid down by subclause 6.6.2;
 - "A" = A Use Class that is not permitted unless the Council has exercised its discretion and has granted planning approval after giving special notice in accordance with Clause 6.7;
 - "X" = A Use Class that is not permitted except under the provisions of clause 3.15.

 The Special Use Zone, Urban Development Zone, Rural Zone and Centre Zone are not listed in Table 1 and the permissibility of uses in those zones is to be determined by the

provisions specifically applying to them in the Scheme or in any Agreed Structure Plan approved under Part 9.

3.2.3 Where in the Zoning Table a particular use is mentioned it is deemed to be excluded from any other use class which by its more general terms might otherwise include such particular use.

3.3 UNLISTED USES

If the use of the land for a particular purpose is not specifically mentioned in the Zoning Table and cannot reasonably be determined as falling within the interpretation of one of the use categories the Council may—

- (a) determine that the use is consistent with the objectives and purposes of the particular zone and is therefore permitted; or
- (b) determine that the proposed use may be consistent with the objectives and purpose of the zone and thereafter follow the procedures set down for an 'A' use in Clause 6.6.3 in considering an application for planning approval; or
- (c) determine that the use is not consistent with the objectives and purposes of the particular zone and is therefore not permitted.

3.4 THE RESIDENTIAL ZONE

The Residential Zone is intended primarily for residential development in an environment where high standards of amenity and safety predominate to ensure the health and welfare of the population.

Residential development is provided for at a range of densities with a variety of housing to meet the needs of different household types. This is done through application of the Residential Planning Codes (R Codes), and the allocation of a residential density code to an area of land.

Cultural and recreational development may be located where the Council considers the same to be appropriate in residential neighbourhoods within the Residential Zone.

The objectives of the Residential Zone are to-

- (a) maintain the predominantly single residential character and amenity of established residential areas;
- (b) provide the opportunity for grouped and multiple dwellings in selected locations so that there is a choice in the type of housing available within the City; and
- (c) provide the opportunity for aged persons housing in most residential areas in recognition of an increasing percentage of aged residents within the City.

3.5 THE MIXED USE ZONE

The Mixed Use Zone is intended to accommodate a mixture of residential development with small businesses in a primarily residential scale environment. The predominant non-residential uses will be office, consulting, dining and limited retail uses occupying the street frontage of lots.

The zoning will provide an intermediate stage between Residential and Commercial or Business Zone areas. A high level of pedestrian amenity should be provided.

The objectives of the Mixed Use Zone are to-

- (a) provide a diversity of landuse and housing types compatible with the maintenance of residential amenity;
- (b) allow appropriate businesses to locate and develop in close proximity to residential areas;
- (c) allow for services to be provided locally.

3.6 THE BUSINESS ZONE

3.6.1 The Business Zone is intended to accommodate wholesaling, retail warehouses, showrooms and trade and professional services and small scale complementary and incidental retailing uses, as well as providing for retail and commercial businesses which require large areas such as bulky goods and category/theme based retail outlets that provide for the needs of the community but which due to their nature are generally not appropriate to or cannot be accommodated in a commercial area.

The objectives of the Business Zone are to-

- (a) provide for retail and commercial businesses which require large areas such as bulky goods and category/theme based retail outlets as well as complementary business services;
- (b) ensure that development within this zone creates an attractive façade to the street for the visual amenity of surrounding areas.

3.6.2 Development in the Business Zone shall conform, among other things, with the general provisions set out below.

- (a) Buildings shall be set back no more than 6m from the street boundary. A lesser setback may be encouraged where location and design issues would make this appropriate.
- (b) Setbacks to side and rear boundaries shall comply with the Building Code of Australia.
- (c) With the exception of lots around which authorised screen walls have been erected, landscaping to the satisfaction of Council shall be planted and maintained by the owners on all portions of the property not covered by approved buildings, storage areas, accessways or parking areas (notwithstanding that shade trees shall be planted and maintained by the owners in car parking areas to the Council's satisfaction). Owners shall establish and maintain landscaping to Council's satisfaction on adjacent street verges.
- (d) Screen walls 1.8 metres high to a specification approved by and to the satisfaction of the Council shall be provided to screen the rear areas of all lots where necessary to protect the amenity of any adjoining residential lots.

- (e) Provisions relating to Building Construction—
 - (i) every building shall have a façade of brick, plate glass or other approved material to all street frontages;
 - (ii) where under the Building Code of Australia metal clad walls are permitted, they must have a factory applied painted finish to the satisfaction of the City Building Surveyor.

3.7 THE COMMERCIAL ZONE

3.7.1 The Commercial Zone is intended to accommodate existing shopping and business centres where it is impractical to provide an Agreed Structure Plan in accordance with Part 9 of the Scheme.

The objectives of the Commercial Zone are to—

- (a) make provision for existing retail and commercial areas that are not covered by an Agreed Structure Plan;
- (b) provide for a wide range of uses within existing commercial areas, including retailing, entertainment, professional offices, business services and residential.
- 3.7.2 All land contained in the Commercial Zone shall specify a maximum retail net lettable area (NLA) which relates to retail floor area. The maximum NLA shall be included in Schedule 3 of this Scheme and shall bind the development of the land to no more than that area specified.
- 3.7.3 Notwithstanding the provisions of clause 3.7.2, the floorspace figures contained within Schedule 3 shall be adhered to except as otherwise varied by an Agreed Structure Plan for the centre locality as adopted by the Council and the Western Australian Planning Commission.

3.8 THE CIVIC AND CULTURAL ZONE

The objective of the Civic and Cultural Zone is to make specific provision for public facilities such as government offices, halls, theatres and art galleries.

Although many of the uses permitted in the Civic and Cultural Zone may be equally appropriate in the Centre Zone, it is provided as a separate zone to stand in its own right should the need arise.

3.9 THE PRIVATE CLUBS/RECREATION ZONE

The objective of the Private Clubs/Recreation Zone is to accommodate uses such as private golf clubs, private educational, institutional and recreational activities.

3.10 THE SERVICE INDUSTRIAL ZONE

3.10.1 The Service Industrial Zone is intended to provide for a wide range of business, industrial and recreational developments which the Council may consider would be inappropriate in Commercial and Business Zones and which are capable of being conducted in a manner which will prevent them being obtrusive, or detrimental to the local amenity.

The objectives of the Service Industrial Zone are to-

- (a) accommodate a range of light industries, showrooms and warehouses, entertainment and recreational activities, and complementary business services which, by their nature, would not detrimentally affect the amenity of surrounding areas;
- (b) ensure that development within this zone creates an attractive façade to the street for the visual amenity of surrounding areas.
- 3.10.2 Development in the Service Industrial Zone shall conform, among other things, with the general provisions set out below.
 - (a) Buildings shall be set back a minimum of 6 metres from the street boundary. Setbacks to side and rear boundaries shall comply with the Building Code of Australia.
 - (b) Where a lot has a boundary with more than one street, the Council shall designate one such boundary as the frontage and may approve buildings up to a minimum distance of 3 metres from the other street boundaries.
 - (c) That portion of a lot within 3 metres of its boundary with a road reserve shall only be used for—
 - (i) an approved means of access;
 - (ii) landscaping;
 - (iii) an approved Trade Display

and that portion of a lot between 3 metres of its boundary with a road reserve and the building line setback shall only be used for the parking, loading or unloading of vehicles, and for landscaping.

- (d) With the exception of lots around which authorised screen walls have been erected, landscaping to the satisfaction of Council shall be planted and maintained by the owners on all portions of the property not covered by approved buildings, storage areas, accessways or parking areas (notwithstanding that shade trees shall be planted and maintained by the owners in car parking areas to the Council's satisfaction). Owners shall plant and maintain landscaping to Council's satisfaction on adjacent street verges.
- (e) Screen walls 1.8 metres high to a specification approved by and to the satisfaction of the Council shall be provided to screen the rear areas of all lots where necessary to protect the amenity of any adjoining residential lots.
- (f) Provisions relating to Building Construction—
 - (i) every building shall have a façade of brick, plate glass or other approved material to all street frontages;

(ii) where under the Building Code of Australia, metal clad walls are permitted, they must have a factory applied painted finish to the satisfaction of the City Building Surveyor.

3.11 THE CENTRE ZONE

3.11.1 The Centre Zone is intended to accommodate existing and proposed business centres varying in size from small neighbourhood centres to large multi-purpose regional centres and provides for the coordinated planning and development of these centres or other planning precincts where the council considers that an Agreed Structure Plan is necessary.

The objectives of the Centre Zone are to—

- (a) provide for a hierarchy of centres from small neighbourhood centres to large regional centres, catering for the diverse needs of the community for goods and services;
- (b) ensure that the city's commercial centres are integrated and complement one another in the range of retail, commercial, entertainment and community services and activities they provide for residents, workers and visitors;
- (c) encourage development within centres to create an attractive urban environment;
- (d) provide the opportunity for the coordinated and comprehensive planning and development of centres through an Agreed Structure Plan process.
- 3.11.2 No subdivision or other development should be commenced or carried out in a Centre Zone until a Structure Plan has been prepared and adopted under the provisions of Part 9 of the Scheme. No subdivision should be commenced or carried out and no other development shall be commenced or carried out otherwise than in conformity with an Agreed Structure Plan.
- 3.11.3 The permissibility of uses in the Centre Zone subject to subclauses 9.8.2 and 9.8.3 shall be determined in accordance with the provisions of the relevant Agreed Structure Plan.
- 3.11.4 With the exception of the Centre Zone containing the Joondalup City Centre, all Centre Zones shall specify the proposed maximum retail net lettable area (NLA) which relates to retail floor areas. The Maximum NLA shall be included in Schedule 3 of this Scheme and shall bind the development of the land to no more than that area specified.
- 3.11.5 Notwithstanding the provisions of clause 3.11.4, the floorspace figures contained within Schedule 3 shall be adhered to except as otherwise varied by an Agreed Structure Plan for the centre locality as adopted by the Council and the Western Australian Planning Commission.

3.12 THE URBAN DEVELOPMENT ZONE

3.12.1 The purpose of the Urban Development Zone is to provide for the orderly planning and redevelopment of larger areas of land or districts in an integrated manner within a regional context whilst retaining flexibility to review planning with changing circumstances. In considering applications for development and changes to residential density codings in areas near existing and proposed future railway stations the Council will have due regard to the desirability of higher residential densities, transit related development and good pedestrian and vehicular access to stations in order to promote public transport usage.

The objectives of the Urban Development Zone are to-

- (a) designate land for future urban development;
- (b) provide for the orderly planning of large areas of land for residential and associated purposes through a comprehensive structure planning process.
- (c) enable planning to be flexible and responsive to changing circumstances throughout the developmental stages of the area.
- 3.12.2 Subject to Clause 9.11 of this Scheme, no subdivision or other development should be commenced or carried out in an Urban Development Zone until a structure plan has been prepared and adopted under the provisions of Part 9 of the Scheme. No subdivision should be commenced or carried out, and no other development shall be commenced or carried out otherwise than in conformity with an Agreed Structure Plan.
- 3.12.3 The permissibility of uses in the Urban Development Zone subject to subclause 9.8.2 and 9.8.3 shall be determined in accordance with the provisions of the relevant Agreed Structure Plan.

3.13 THE SPECIAL RESIDENTIAL ZONE

- 3.13.1 The Special Residential Zone is intended to accommodate the development of single houses on lots of not less than $2,000\text{m}^2$ with an average lot size of not less than $3,000\text{m}^2$. The objectives of the Special Residential Zone are to—
 - (a) accommodate a spacious style of living in a low density setting;
 - (b) maintain important environmental and landscape values through site-sensitive design and development.

3.14 THE RURAL ZONE

The Rural Zone is intended to accommodate land that is included in the Rural Zone under the MRS. If Council is required to consider an application in respect of a development, or use for land in the Rural Zone, then the Council shall, in addition to any other matters required by this Scheme to be considered, have regard to the following considerations—

- (a) as an overriding consideration, the intent of the application;
- (b) any comments the Commission may make in response to notice of the applications.
- (c) The interests of orderly and proper planning, and concern for the amenity of the relevant locality in the short, intermediate and long term.

3.15 ADDITIONAL USES (SCHEDULE 2—SECTION 1)

Notwithstanding anything contained in the Zoning Table, the land specified in Section 1 of Schedule 2 may be used for the specific use or uses that are listed in addition to any uses permissible in the zone in which the land is situated subject to the conditions set out in Schedule 2 with respect to that land.

3.16 RESTRICTED USES (SCHEDULE 2—SECTION 2)

Notwithstanding anything contained in the Zoning Table, the land specified in Section 2 of Schedule 2 may only be used for the specific use or uses that are listed and subject to the conditions set out in Schedule 2 with respect to that land.

3.17 THE SPECIAL USE ZONE (SCHEDULE 2—SECTION 3)

Special Use Zone is set out in Section 3 of Schedule 2 and is in addition to the zones in the Zoning Table. No person shall use any land or any structure or buildings on land, in a Special Use Zone except for the purpose set out against that land in Schedule 2 and subject to compliance with any conditions set out in Schedule 2 with respect to that land.

3.18 NEW DEVELOPMENT AROUND EXISTING RAILWAY STATIONS

In order to promote public transport usage, Council shall encourage appropriate transit-related development to take place around existing railway stations. This relates to both private property, and government-owned land and air rights above that land where achievable.

PART 4—GENERAL DEVELOPMENT REQUIREMENTS

4.1 EXCLUSIONS

The development requirements or standards specified in clauses 4.5 and 4.7 to 4.12 inclusive shall apply to all development other than development controlled by the Residential Planning Codes. In the Mixed Use Zone, the Business Zone, the Service Industrial Zone, the Special Residential Zone and the Rural Zone, the provisions of Clauses 3.5, 3.6, 3.10, 3.13 and 3.14 as the case may be, shall prevail if there is any conflict or inconsistency with this Part.

4.2 RESIDENTIAL PLANNING CODES

- 4.2.1 For the purposes of this Scheme "Residential Planning Codes" means the Residential Planning Codes set out in Appendix 2 to the Commission's Statement of Planning Policy No. 1, together with any amendments thereto.
- 4.2.2 A copy of the Residential Planning Codes, as amended, shall be kept and made available for public inspection at the offices of the Council.
- 4.2.3 Unless otherwise provided for in the Scheme the development of land for any of the residential purposes dealt with by the Residential Planning Codes shall conform to the provisions of those Codes.
- 4.2.4 Subject to clause 4.2.5, the Residential Planning Code density applicable to land within the Scheme Area shall be determined by reference to the legend shown on the Residential Density Codes maps which form part of this Scheme.

Unless otherwise specified on the map the R20 density code applies unless the Council determines that a higher code should apply.

4.2.5 Notwithstanding the provisions of clause 4.2.4, where land within the Scheme is subject to an Agreed Structure Plan, the Residential Density Codes for the area shall be determined according to the Agreed Structure Plan.

4.3 SPECIAL APPLICATION OF RESIDENTIAL PLANNING CODES

4.3.1 Where residential development is proposed to be mixed with non-residential development, Council may vary any provision of the Codes with the exception of the minimum area of lot per dwelling prescribed in Column 3, Table 1 of the Codes.

Before exercising its powers of discretion Council may require that a proposal be advertised and plans made available for public inspection in accordance with the procedures laid down in clause 6.7.

4.3.2 In areas that are covered by an Agreed Structure Plan the provisions of the Residential Planning Codes may be varied by the provisions of the Agreed Structure Plan set out under clause 9.8.3(b).

4.4 HOME BUSINESS

- 4.4.1 Home Business—Category 1
 - 4.4.1.1 Subject to Clause 4.4.4, a person may conduct a Home Business—Category 1 within a dwelling without the need to submit an application for approval to commence development.
 - 4.4.1.2 If in the opinion of the Council the activity is no longer consistent with the limits of a Home Business—Category 1, or is otherwise causing a nuisance or annoyance to neighbours or to owners or occupiers of land in the neighbourhood, Council may serve notice on the person requiring the person to cease using the dwelling for the occupation.
- 4.4.2 Home Business—Category 2
 - 4.4.2.1 A person wishing to conduct a Home Business—Category 2 on residential premises is required to apply to Council for an approval to commence development, and such use or occupation may be approved by Council at its discretion.
- 4.4.3 Home Business—Category 3
 - 4.4.3.1 A person wishing to conduct a Home Business—Category 3 on residential premises is required to apply to Council for an approval to commence development, and such use or occupation may be approved by Council at its discretion.

4.4.3.2 The provisions of the Residential Planning Codes and all other clauses in the Scheme relating to developments in a Residential Zone shall apply to a Home Business—Category 3. Council may exercise its discretion and vary a provision of the Codes, except the minimum area of lot per dwelling prescribed in Column 3, Table 1 of the Codes.

4.4.4 Review

- 4.4.4.1 At any time Council may undertake a review of the status of an occupation being carried out in a dwelling as a Home Business—Category 1, by requiring the resident to submit a statement setting out the nature and extent of the occupation being carried out on the premises or, on reasonable notice, permitting inspection of the dwelling by Council.
- 4.4.4.2 Following completion of a review, Council may designate the occupation either as a Home Business—Category 1, Category 2 or 3 and require the resident to comply with the requirements of the Scheme in a manner applicable to that designation and if the designation has changed, then notwithstanding that the occupation may have been lawful up to the time of the review, such occupation shall be carried out only in conformity with Council provisions of either a Home Business Category 2 or a Home Business—Category 3, whichever is applicable, once issued.

4.5 VARIATIONS TO SITE AND DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS AND REQUIREMENTS

- 4.5.1 Except for development in respect of which the Residential Planning Codes apply and the requirements set out in Clauses 3.7.3 and 3.11.5, if a development is the subject of an application for planning approval and does not comply with a standard or requirement prescribed under the Scheme, the Council may, notwithstanding that non-compliance, approve the application unconditionally or subject to such conditions as the Council thinks fit.
- 4.5.2 In considering an application for planning approval under this clause, where, in the opinion of Council, the variation is likely to affect any owners or occupiers in the general locality or adjoining the site which is subject of consideration for the variation, the Council shall—
 - (a) consult the affected parties by following one or more of the provisions for advertising uses pursuant to clause 6.7.1 and
 - (b) have regard to any expressed views prior to making its decision to grant the variation.
- 4.5.3 The power conferred by this clause may only be exercised if the Council is satisfied that—
 - (a) approval of the proposed development would be appropriate having regard to the criteria set out in Clause 6.8: and
 - (b) the non-compliance will not have any adverse effect upon the occupiers or users of the development or the inhabitants of the locality or upon the likely future development of the locality.

4.6 ENVIRONMENTAL CONDITIONS

- 4.6.1 In accordance with Section 7A4 of the Act, environmental conditions imposed by the Minister for the Environment on the Scheme or amendments to the Scheme and contained in Statements under Section 48F Environmental Protect Act, are incorporated into the Scheme by Schedule 9 of the Scheme.
- 4.6.2 Where appropriate, the environmental conditions are indicated on the Scheme Map by the symbol "EC" to indicate that environmental conditions apply to the land.
- 4.6.3 The Council shall maintain a register of all the Statements published under Section 48F referred to in sub-clause 4.6.1 which shall be made available for public inspection at the offices of the Council.

4.7 BUILDING SETBACKS FOR NON RESIDENTIAL BUILDINGS

4.7.1 Unless otherwise provided for in Part 3 of the Scheme, buildings shall be set back from property boundaries as follows—

Setback from street boundary 9.0 metres
Setback from side boundary 3.0 metres
Setback from rear boundary 6.0 metres

4.7.2 Where a lot has a boundary with more than one street the Council shall designate one such street as the frontage and the other street boundaries as side boundaries, if it is satisfied that there will be no adverse effect on traffic safety, and no adverse effect on the amenity of any adjoining properties or the locality generally.

4.8 CAR PARKING STANDARDS

4.8.1 The design of off-street parking areas including parking for disabled shall be in accordance with Australian Standards AS 2890.1 or AS 2890.2 as amended from time to time. Car parking areas shall be constructed and maintained to the satisfaction of the Council.

4.8.2 The number of on-site car parking bays to be provided for specified development shall be in accordance with Table 2. Where development is not specified in Table 2 the Council shall determine the parking standard. The Council may also determine that a general car parking standard shall apply irrespective of the development proposed in cases where it considers this to be appropriate.

4.9 PEDESTRIAN AND VEHICLE RECIPROCAL ACCESS REQUIREMENTS

If the Council approves car parking and pedestrian access on neighbouring premises in a manner which relies on the reciprocal movement of vehicles and pedestrians between or across the premises, the owners concerned shall allow the necessary reciprocal access and parking at all times to the Council's satisfaction.

4.10 TRAFFIC ENTRANCES

The Council may where it considers it desirable and in the interests of traffic safety direct the owner of any lot to limit access and egress or provide such additional access and egress as it requires to any premises.

4.11 CAR PARKING—CASH IN LIEU OR STAGING

- 4.11.1 The Council may permit car parking to be provided in stages subject to the developer setting aside for future development for parking the total required area of land and entering into an agreement to satisfactorily complete all the remaining stages when requested to do so by the Council.
- 4.11.2 Council may accept a cash payment in lieu of the provision of any required land for parking subject to being satisfied that there is adequate provision for car parking or a reasonable expectation in the immediate future that there will be adequate provision for public car parking in the proximity of the proposed development.
- 4.11.3 The cash payment shall be calculated having regard to the estimated cost of construction of the parking area or areas suitable for the proposed development and includes the value, as estimated by the Council, of that area of land which would have had to be provided to meet the car parking requirements specified by the Scheme. The cash payment may be discounted and may be payable in such manner as the Council shall from time to time determine.
- 4.11.4 Any cash payment received by the Council pursuant to this clause shall be paid into appropriate funds to be used to provide public car parks in the locality as deemed appropriate by Council.

4.12 LANDSCAPING REQUIREMENTS FOR NON RESIDENTIAL BUILDINGS

- 4.12.1 A minimum of 8% of the area of a development site shall be designed, developed and maintained as landscaping to a standard satisfactory to the Council. In addition the road verge adjacent to the lot shall be landscaped and maintained in a clean and tidy condition to the satisfaction of the Council.
- 4.12.2 When a proposed development includes a car parking area abutting a street, an area no less than 3 metres wide within the lot along all street boundaries shall be designed, developed and maintained as landscaping to a standard satisfactory to the Council. This landscaped area shall be included in the minimum 8% of the area of the total development site referred to in the previous subclause.
- 4.12.3 Landscaping shall be carried out on all those areas of a development site which are not approved for buildings, accessways, storage purposes or car parking with the exception that shade trees shall be planted and maintained by the owners in car parking areas at the rate of one tree for every four (4) car parking bays, to the Council's satisfaction.

4.13 MINIMUM LOT DIMENSIONS

Minimum lot sizes and frontages are not specifically set for the purposes of this Part. The extent of any development on any lot shall be dependent upon other development requirements. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Council may establish policies outlining specific minimum lot dimensions for specific types of development where it considers that it is prudent to do so.

4.14 STORAGE AND RUBBISH ACCUMULATION

- 4.14.1 All storage, including the storage of accumulated rubbish, shall be confined to within a building, or a suitably enclosed area screened from its immediate surrounds and any adjacent public street or road by normal viewing by a wall not less than 1.8 metres in height constructed of brick, masonry or other approved material. All storage of accumulated rubbish shall be located in a position accessible to rubbish collection vehicles and where vehicular access and car parking will not be adversely affected.
- 4.14.2 Development requirements for enclosed storage areas and garbage storage areas relating to residential developments for grouped and multiple dwellings are contained within the 'Residential Planning Codes'.

4.15 COMMERCIAL VEHICLE PARKING

Parking of commercial vehicles in the Residential, Mixed Use, Business, Urban Development, Centre, Commercial and Special Residential Zones shall not be permitted except in accordance with the provisions set out in the following paragraphs of this clause—

- (a) a person shall not park, or permit to be parked, more than one commercial vehicle on any lot in the zones referred to in this clause;
- (b) a person may only park a commercial vehicle on any lot in the zones referred to in this clause if—
 - (i) the lot on which the vehicle is parked contains only a single house (including any associated outbuildings) provided that Council may permit the parking of such vehicle on a lot which contains grouped dwellings if it is of the opinion that this will not adversely affect the amenity of the grouped dwelling development or the surrounding area;
 - (ii) the vehicle is parked entirely on the subject lot and is located on a hard standing area which is located behind the front of the dwelling, or alternatively the vehicle is parked within a garage;
 - (iii) the vehicle is used as an essential part of the lawful occupation of an occupant of the dwelling. The foregoing requirement of this item shall not be satisfied in any case unless the owner of the vehicle or an occupier of the dwelling within seven days of the Council making a request, supplies to the Council full information as to the name and occupation of the person said to be using the vehicle. The request for that information is made for the purpose of this item by posting the request to the address of the owner of the vehicle

- shown on the vehicle registration, or by posting the request to or leaving it at the dwelling addressed in general way to the occupier. The parking of the vehicle on the lot does not authorise the conduct on that lot of the occupation of the vehicle user;
- (iv) the vehicle does not exceed 3 metres in height (including the load), 2.5 metres in width, or 8 metres in length;
- (v) the vehicle is not started or manoeuvred on site between the hours of 10.00 pm and 6.00 am the next following day;
- (vi) while on the lot, the vehicle's motor is not left running while the vehicle is unattended or in any event for any period in excess of five minutes;
- (vii) where a noise complaint is substantiated in accordance with the relevant Regulations made pursuant to the Environmental Protection Act 1986, the hours of operation shall be restricted to 7.00 am—9.00 pm Monday to Saturday and 9.30 am—9.00 pm Sundays and Public Holidays.
 - Any restrictions imposed on the hours of operation shall not limit further application of the relevant Regulations made pursuant to the Environmental Protection Act 1986;
- (viii) only minor servicing, including minor mechanical repairs and adjustments, and/or cleaning that generates easily contained liquid waste is carried out on the lot. Liquid waste shall be as defined in the Health (Liquid Waste) Regulations 1993 and shall be disposed of in accordance with the same.
 - All cleaning and servicing shall be conducted behind the front of the dwelling;
- (ix) storage of liquid fuels on the lot complies with the Explosive and Dangerous Goods Act, 1961;
- (x) the vehicle is not used or designed for use for the transportation of livestock or the transportation or disposal of liquid or solid wastes or other use so as to cause nuisance or pollution as defined in the Health Act 1911 and/or the Environmental Protection Act 1986:
- (xi) the vehicle is not carrying a refrigeration unit which is operating on a continuous or intermittent basis;
- (xii) while on the lot, there is no transfer of goods or passengers from one vehicle to another vehicle, unloading or loading of the vehicle, or storage of goods associated with the use of the vehicle:
- (xiii) the vehicle is not used or operated as a tow truck or other emergency vehicle, between the hours of 10.00 pm to 6.00 am in a manner that adversely affects the residential amenity of the area;.
- (c) the Council may in writing approve a variation to any of the requirements of items (ii) and (iv) in paragraph (b) provided the Council is satisfied in the circumstances that the variation will not adversely affect the amenity of the area surrounding the subject land. Surrounding landowners and occupants may be invited to comment on the proposed variation;
- (d) an approval of the Council granted under paragraph (c) is personal to the person to whom it is granted, is not capable of being transferred or assigned to any other person, and does not run with the land in respect of which it is granted;
- (e) a vehicle shall be considered to be parked on a lot for the purpose of this clause if it remains on that lot for more than one hour in aggregate over any period of 24 hours unless the vehicle is being used bona fide in connection with ongoing construction work legally being carried out on the lot, the burden of proving which shall lie upon the person asserting it.

PART 5—SPECIAL CONTROLS

5.1 CONTROL OF ADVERTISEMENTS

5.1.1 Objectives

The objectives of the provisions for control of advertisements are—

- (a) to ensure that the visual quality and character of particular localities and transport corridors are not eroded;
- (b) to achieve advertising signs that are not misleading or dangerous to vehicular or pedestrian traffic:
- (c) to minimize the total area and impact of outdoor advertising commensurate with the realistic needs of commerce for such advertising;
- (d) to prohibit outdoor advertising which is considered to be superfluous or unnecessary by virtue
 of their colours, height, prominence, visual impact, size, relevance to the premises on which
 they are located, number and content;
- (e) to reduce and minimise clutter; and
- (f) to promote a high standard of design and presentation in outdoor advertising.

5.1.2 Power to Control Advertisements

5.1.2.1 For the purpose of this Scheme and subject to subclause 5.1.5, the erection, placement and display of advertisements, and the use of land or buildings for that purpose is development within the definition of the Act requiring, except as otherwise provided, the prior approval of the Council. Planning Approval is required in addition to any licence pursuant to the Council's Signs Local Law.

5.1.2.2 Applications for Council's planning Approval pursuant to this Part shall be submitted in accordance with the provisions of Clause 6.1 of the Scheme and shall be accompanied by a completed Additional Information Sheet in the form specified by the Council from time to time giving details of the advertisement(s) to be erected, placed or displayed on the land.

5.1.3 Existing Advertisements

Advertisements which-

- (a) were lawfully erected, placed or displayed prior to the Gazettal Date of the Scheme; or
- (b) may be erected, placed or displayed pursuant to a licence or other approval granted by the Council prior to the approval of this Scheme— $\,$

hereinafter in this Clause referred to as "existing advertisements", may, except as otherwise provided, continue to be displayed or be erected and displayed in accordance with the licence or approval as appropriate.

5.1.4 Consideration of Applications

Without limiting the generality of the matters which may be taken into account when making a decision upon an application for Planning Approval to erect, place or display an advertisement, Council shall examine each such application in the light of the objectives of the Scheme and with particular reference to the character and amenity of the locality within which it is to be displayed, including its historic or landscape significance and traffic safety, and the amenity of adjacent areas which may be affected.

5.1.5 Exemptions from the Requirement to Obtain Approval

Subject to the provisions of the Main Roads WA (Control of Signs) Regulations 1983 and notwithstanding the provisions of subclause 5.1.2, the Council's prior Planning Approval is not required in respect of those advertisements listed in Schedule 4 which for the purpose of this clause are referred to as "exempted advertisements". The exemptions listed in Schedule 4 do not apply to land, buildings, objects, structures and places declared pursuant to Clauses 5.2 and 5.3 of the Scheme.

5.1.6 Discontinuance

Notwithstanding the Scheme objectives and subclause 5.1.5, where the Council can demonstrate exceptional circumstances which cause an exempted or existing advertisement to seriously conflict with the objectives of this Clause, it may by notice in writing (giving clear reasons) require the advertiser to remove, relocate, adapt or otherwise modify the advertisement within a period of time specified in the notice.

5.1.7 Derelict or Poorly Maintained Advertisements

Where, in the opinion of the Council, an advertisement has been permitted to deteriorate to a point where it conflicts with the objectives of this clause or it ceases to be effective for the purpose for which it was erected or displayed, the Council may by notice in writing, require the advertiser to—

- (a) repair, repaint or otherwise restore the advertisement to a standard specified by the Council in the notice; or
- (b) remove the advertisement.

5.1.8 Notices

- 5.1.8.1 The "advertiser" shall be interpreted as any one person or any group comprised of the landowner, occupier, licensee or other person having an interest in or drawing benefit from the display of the advertisement concerned.
- 5.1.8.2 Any notice served in exceptional circumstances pursuant to subclause 5.1.6 or 5.1.7 shall be served upon the advertiser and shall specify—
 - (a) the advertisement(s) the subject of the notice;
 - (b) full details of the action or alternative courses of action to be taken by the advertiser to comply with the notice; and
 - (c) the period, not being less than 60 days, within which the action specified shall be completed by the advertiser.
- 5.1.8.3 Any person upon whom a notice is served pursuant to this subclause may within a period of 60 days from the date of the notice appeal to the Minister or the Town Planning Appeal Tribunal in accordance with Part V of the Act, and where any such appeal is lodged the effect of the notice shall be suspended until the decision to uphold, quash or vary the notice is known and shall thereafter have effect according to that decision.

5.1.9 Scheme to Prevail

Where the provisions of this Clause are found to be at variance with the provisions of the Council's Signs Local Laws, the provisions of the Scheme shall prevail.

5.1.10 Enforcements and Penalties

The offences and penalties specified in Clause 8.10 of the Scheme shall apply to the advertiser in this Clause.

5.2 HERITAGE PROTECTION

5.2.1 Purpose and Intent

The purpose and intent of the heritage provisions are—

- (a) to facilitate the conservation of places of heritage value;
- (b) to ensure as far as possible that development occurs with due regard to heritage values.

- 5.2.2 Heritage List of Places, Buildings or Objects Worthy of Conservation or Preservation
 - 5.2.2.1 The Council shall establish and maintain a Heritage List which shall identify those places within the Scheme Area to be of cultural heritage significance and worthy of conservation under the provisions of this Scheme, together with a description of each place and the reasons for its entry.
 - 5.2.2.2 In the preparation of the Heritage List the Council shall have regard to the Municipal Inventory prepared by the Council pursuant to Section 45 of the Heritage of Western Australia Act 1990 and will include on the List such of those entries on the Inventory it considers to be appropriate.
 - 5.2.2.3 In considering a proposal to include a place on the Heritage List, the Council shall—
 - (a) notify in writing the owner and occupier of the place and provide them with a copy of the description referred to in sub-clause 5.2.2.1 and the reasons for the proposed entry;
 - (b) invite submissions on the proposal from the owner and occupier of the place within 21 days of the date specified in the notice;
 - (c) carry out such other consultations as it thinks fit; and
 - (d) consider any submissions made and resolve to enter the place on the Heritage List with or without modification or reject the proposal after consideration of the submissions.
 - 5.2.2.4 Where a place is included on the Heritage List, the Council shall give notice of the inclusion to the Commission, the Heritage Council of Western Australia and to the owner and occupier of the place.
 - 5.2.2.5 The Council shall keep copies of the Heritage List with the Scheme documents for public inspection.
 - 5.2.2.6 The Council may remove or modify the entry of a place on the Heritage List by following the procedures set out in sub-clause 5.2.2.3.

5.2.3 Application for Planning Approval

- 5.2.3.1 In dealing with any matters which may affect a place included on the Heritage List, including any application for planning approval, Council shall have regard to any heritage policy of the Council.
- 5.2.3.2 The Council, shall in considering any application that may affect a place included on the Heritage List, solicit the views of the Heritage Council of WA and any other relevant bodies, and take those views into account when determining the application.
- 5.2.3.3 Notwithstanding any existing assessment on record, Council may require a heritage assessment to be carried out prior to the approval for any development proposed on land or to structures the subject of a place included on the Heritage List.
- 5.2.3.4 For the purposes of Clause 6.1 of the Scheme, the term 'development' shall have the meaning as set out in the Town Planning and Development Act (as amended) but shall also include, in relation to any place listed in the Heritage List any act or thing that is likely to significantly change the external character of the building, object, structure or place.

5.2.4 Formalities of Application

- 5.2.4.1 In addition to the application formalities prescribed in sub-clause 5.2.3 and any formalities or requirements associated with applications for planning approval contained in any of the provisions of the Scheme, the Council may require an application for planning approval, where the proposed development may affect a place of cultural heritage significance, to provide one or more of the following to assist the Council in its determination of the application—
 - (a) street elevations drawn to a scale not smaller than 1:100 showing the proposed development and the whole of the existing development on each lot immediately adjoining the land the subject of the application, and drawn as one continuous elevation;
 - (b) in addition to a site plan, a plan of the proposed development site showing existing and proposed ground levels over the whole of the land the subject of the application, and the location, type and height of all existing structures and of all existing vegetation exceeding 2 metres in height, and marking any existing structures and vegetation proposed to be removed; such plan shall be drawn to the same scale as the site plan;
 - (c) a detailed schedule of all finishes, including materials and colours of the proposed development and, unless the Council exempts the applicant from the requirement or any part of it, the finishes of the existing developments on the subject lot and on each lot immediately adjoining the subject lot; and
 - (d) any other information which the Council indicates that it considers relevant.

5.2.5 Variations to Scheme Provisions

- 5.2.5.1 Where desirable to facilitate the conservation of a heritage place or to enhance heritage values, the Council may vary any provision of the Scheme provided that, where in the Council's opinion the variation of a provision is likely to affect any owners or occupiers in the general locality or adjoining the site which is the subject of consideration for variation, the Council shall—
 - (a) consult the affected parties by following one or more of the provisions dealing with advertising uses pursuant to Clause 6.7; and

- (b) take into consideration any expressed views prior to making its decision to grant the
- 5.2.5.2 In granting variations under subclause 5.2.5.1 the Council may enter into a heritage agreement under Part 4 of the Heritage of Western Australia Act 1990 with an owner who would benefit from the variation. The agreement may specify the owner's obligations and contain memorials noted on relevant Certificates of Title.

5.3 LANDSCAPE/ENVIRONMENT PROTECTION

5.3.1 Schedule 5

- 5.3.1.1 Schedule 5 contains details of those places and objects within the City which the Council has classified as having significance for the purpose of protection of the landscape or environment.
- 5.3.1.2 If the Council at any time considers that a place or object has significance from the point of view of protection of the environment or landscape, the Council may classify the place or object accordingly and shall add details thereof to Schedule 5 by amendment to the Scheme
- 5.3.1.3 If the Council at any time considers that any Schedule 5 place or object should no longer be subject to the provisions of this clause the Council may initiate an amendment to the Scheme for the deletion of the place or object from Schedule 5.

5.3.2 Written Consent of the Council

- 5.3.2.1 Notwithstanding any other provisions of the Scheme to the contrary the approval of the Council is required for the following development on or in relation to any place of landscape or environmental value listed in Schedule 5—
 - (a) the clearing, excavation or filling of any land;
 - (b) the felling, removal, killing or causing of irreparable damage to any tree;
 - (c) the erection of any fence;
 - (d) the commencement or carrying out of any renovation, modification, refitting, decoration or demolition of any building; or
 - (e) the alteration or removal of any building or object or part thereof.
- 5.3.2.2 Without affecting the generality of the preceding paragraph and notwithstanding the provisions of subclause 6.1.3 no development shall be commenced or carried out on land listed in Schedule 5 without Planning Approval.

5.3.3 Agreements

The Council may-

- 5.3.3.1 enter into agreements with the owners or occupiers of land on which any Schedule 5 place or object is situated for the purpose of ensuring its preservation or conservation;
- 5.3.3.2 enter into agreements with any State or Commonwealth government authority or other body in Western Australia, for the preservation or conservation of any place or object listed in Schedule 5.

5.4 PURCHASE OR RESUMPTION

The Council may purchase, or, subject to the Act, compulsorily acquire all or part of any parcel of land on which any Schedule 5 place or object is situated, as in the opinion of the Council is necessary for its preservation, or which the Council considers necessary for the conservation of the natural beauties of an area, for the preservation of any particular tree or trees and without limiting the generality of the foregoing for the preservation of any place or object of cultural heritage significance or other scientific interest.

PART 6-DEVELOPMENT AND USE OF LAND

6.1 APPLICATION FOR PLANNING APPROVAL

- 6.1.1 The Council's Planning Approval is required for any development on or partly on any land zoned or reserved under the Scheme other than development referred to in subclause 6.1.3, and with those exceptions no person shall commence or carry out any development unless the Council's approval has first been obtained.
- 6.1.2 Any application for Planning Approval shall be made by way of the form prescribed under the Metropolitan Region Scheme for such purpose or by way of Form 1 of the Scheme or other form as determined by Council from time to time. The application shall be submitted to the Council in duplicate together with such plans and other information as the Council reasonably requires.
- 6.1.3 The Council's prior Planning Approval on land zoned by the Scheme is not required if the development consists of—
 - (a) the erection of a boundary fence;
 - (b) the erection on a lot of a single house which will be the only building on that lot and where a dwelling is a permitted ("P") use in the zone in which that lot is situated. For the purposes of this subparagraph the term "single house" does not include the erection of a mast or antenna where either its vertical or horizontal dimension exceeds two metres, the erection of which requires prior Planning Approval;
 - Notwithstanding that a single house does not require the prior approval of the Council pursuant to the Scheme, any person who wishes to carry out development of a single house involving the exercise of discretion by the Council or who wishes to construct a single house in an area or

manner where the provisions of a Structure Plan prepared and adopted under Part 9 of the Scheme or a Policy prepared and adopted under Clause 8.11 of the Scheme require, shall at the time of lodging an application for a Building Licence or earlier, apply in writing to Council, seeking Council's approval.

The Council may approve the application with or without conditions or may refuse to approve the application. The Council shall, before granting its approval involving the exercise of its discretion under the R Codes, satisfy itself that—

- (i) the variation requested is one which the Council has the power to approve; and
- (ii) approval of that variation would not compromise the objectives of the R Codes.

Where the application for Council's approval consists solely of an application relating to a single house for the Council to exercise its discretion under the R Codes or where required by the provisions of a Structure Plan prepared and adopted under Part 9 of the Scheme or a policy prepared and adopted under Clause 8.11 of the Scheme, the application may be in the form of that required for a Building Licence application.

- (c) the use of any buildings or land within the curtilage of a dwelling for any purpose incidental to the enjoyment by the occupants of the dwelling as such;
- (d) the carrying out of any works on, in, or under a street or road by a public authority acting pursuant to the provisions of any statute.
- (e) the carrying out of works for the maintenance, improvement or other alteration of any building, being works which affect only the interior to the building or which do not materially affect the external appearance of the building;
- (f) the carrying out of works urgently necessary in the public safety or for the safety or security of plant or equipment or for the maintenance of essential services;
- (g) the conducting of a Home Business—Category 1.
- 6.1.4 Notwithstanding that any development by reason of the preceding subclause does not require the approval of the Council, an application must nevertheless be submitted to the Council for referral to the Commission for determination in accordance with the Metropolitan Region Scheme or the Metropolitan Region Town Planning Scheme Act 1959 if the land the subject of the application is wholly or partly—
 - (a) affected by a gazetted notice of a resolution by the Commission under clause 32 of the Metropolitan Region Scheme; or
 - (b) within an area duly declared by the Commission to be a Planning Control Area.

6.2 APPLICATION FOR APPROVAL OF USE

- 6.2.1 For the purpose of the Scheme the commencement, carrying out or change of a use on land shall be a development notwithstanding that it does not involve the carrying out of any building or other works.
- 6.2.2 If an application for Planning Approval involves the carrying out of building or other work on land, the approval by the Council of the application, shall unless the Council stipulates otherwise in its approval, be an approval also of the commencement and carrying out of any use of the land—
 - (a) which is specifically proposed and referred to in the application; or
 - (b) which is normally associated with and follows as the most usual consequence of the carrying out or completion of the building or other work.

6.3 PROCEDURES FOR DEALING WITH APPLICATIONS RECEIVED

- 6.3.1 An application for Planning Approval in respect of land which is wholly within a regional reserve shall be referred by the Council to the Commission for determination in accordance with the Metropolitan Region Scheme. No separate determination of the application shall be made by the Council.
- 6.3.2 An application for Planning Approval in respect of land which is—
 - (a) wholly zoned or reserved by the Scheme; or
 - (b) partly within a regional reserve and partly zoned or reserved by the Scheme; or
 - (c) affected by a gazetted notice of resolution made by the Commission under clause 32 of the Metropolitan Region Scheme, or
 - (d) within or partly within a Planning Control Area duly declared by the Commission

shall be dealt with by the Council in accordance with the requirements of the Notice of Delegation published in the *Government Gazette* from time to time by the Commission acting pursuant to the provisions of section 20 of the Western Australian Planning Commission Act 1985. Where that Notice of Delegation requires the application to be determined by the Commission, the procedure is as follows—

- (i) one copy of the application and supporting papers submitted by the applicant shall, within seven days of receipt of the application, be forwarded by the Council to the Commission for determination by the Commission pursuant to the provisions of the Scheme and the Metropolitan Region Scheme or the Metropolitan Region Town Planning Scheme Act 1959; and
- (ii) the Council shall retain the other copy of the application and supporting papers and determine the application in accordance with the provisions of the Scheme.
- (iii) the Council may, within 42 days of receipt of that application (or such further period as the Commission may allow) forward to the Commission its recommendation as to the manner in which the application should be determined.

6.3.3 If the Council receives an application for Planning Approval on land which is partly within a regional reserve and partly zoned or reserved by the Scheme then—

- (a) the Council shall retain one copy of the application and refer the other copy to the Commission for determination of the application pursuant to the Metropolitan Region Scheme;
- (b) if it is reasonable in the circumstances for the Council to make determination as to the part of the proposed development which is on the land zoned or reserved by the Scheme, the Council shall deal with that part of the application in accordance with subclauses 6.3.2 and 6.3.3 but where appropriate the council may express any approval it gives to be subject to the approval of the Commission;
- (c) if it is not reasonable in the circumstances for the Council to make a determination as to the part of the development which is on the land zoned or reserved by the Scheme the Council may delay its determination of the application as to that part until the determination of the Commission is made known to it.

6.3.4 Subject to the provisions of the Metropolitan Region Scheme, if in respect of any proposal for development the Council is required to deal with an application under the Scheme and also an application under the Metropolitan Region Scheme by virtue of an authority delegated to it under the provisions of the Metropolitan Region Town Planning Scheme Act 1959, unless it stipulates a contrary intention, the decision conveyed to the applicant or proponent shall be its decision both under the Metropolitan Region Scheme and under the Scheme.

6.4 REFERRAL TO OTHER AUTHORITIES

The Council may if it so desires, before determining any application consult with any other statutory, public or planning commission and with any other party it deems fit.

6.5 DEEMED REFUSAL

6.5.1 Notwithstanding the provisions of item (d) of subclause 6.9.1 an application which by the terms of the Scheme is required to be determined by the Council may be deemed by the applicant or proponent to have been refused where a decision determining the application has not been conveyed to the applicant or proponent by the Council within 60 days of the Council's receipt of the application or within such further time as may be agreed in writing between the applicant or proponent and the Council.

6.6 DEALING WITH "P", "D", "A" AND "X" USES

6.6.1 "P" Uses—If an application under the Scheme for Planning Approval involves a "P" use, the Council shall not refuse the application by reason of the unsuitability of that use, but notwithstanding that, the Council may in its discretion impose conditions upon the Planning Approval and if the application proposes or necessarily involves any building or other work, the Council upon considering that building or other work may exercise its discretion as to the approval or refusal and the conditions to be attached to the proposed development.

6.6.2 "D" Uses— The Council in exercising its discretion as to the approval or refusal of an application for Planning Approval, shall have regard to the provisions of clause 6.8.

If in any particular case Council considers that it would be appropriate to consult with the public generally or with the owners or occupiers of properties adjoining or in the vicinity of a site the subject of an application for Planning Approval involving a "D" use, the Council may direct that the provisions of clause 6.7 shall apply to that application.

6.6.3 "A" Uses—The use is not permitted unless the Council has exercised its discretion and has granted planning approval after having regard to the provisions of clause 6.8 giving special notice in accordance with clause 6.7.

 $6.6.4\,\mathrm{"X"}$ Uses—The council shall refuse to approve any application for planning approval which involves an "X" Use unless the use complies with clause 3.15.

6.7 PUBLIC NOTICE

6.7.1 Notification of "A" Uses

Before considering an application for planning approval involving an "A" use, the Council shall—

- (a) cause to be advertised one or more times in a newspaper circulating in the district notice of the Council's intention to consider the application for the proposed use. Any such advertisement shall state that the application and associated documents are available for inspection at the office of the Council and that written comments on the application may be lodged with the Council before a specified date, being not less than three weeks after the first publication of the notice; and
- (b) give notice to ratepayers and/or occupiers likely to be affected by the granting of the approval; such notice shall be in writing supplying at least the information referred to in item (a) of this subclause, and allowing a like time after receipt of the notice for objections to be lodged with the Council; and may
- (c) use any other methods or media considered appropriate to ensure widespread notice of the proposal;

6.7.2 Notification of "D" Uses

Before considering an application for planning approval involving a "D" use, the Council may give notice in accordance with subclause 6.7.1.

6.7.3 Consideration of Submissions on "D" and "A" Uses

If Council has advertised an application for planning approval pursuant to subclause 6.7.1 or 6.7.2, Council shall not make a decision to approve the application until after the latest date for submissions stated in any notice given or published pursuant to subclause 6.7.1 or 6.7.2 and until after Council has considered submissions lodged in accordance with the notice.

6.8 MATTERS TO BE CONSIDERED BY COUNCIL

 $6.8.1\,\mathrm{The}$ Council when considering an application for Planning Approval shall have due regard to the following—

- (a) interests of orderly and proper planning and the preservation of the amenity of the relevant locality;
- (b) any relevant submissions by the applicant;
- (c) any Agreed Structure Plan prepared under the provisions of Part 9 of the Scheme;
- (d) any planning policy of the Council adopted under the provisions of clause 8.11;
- (e) any other matter which under the provisions of the Scheme the Council is required to have due regard;
- (f) any policy of the Commission or its predecessors or successors or any planning policy adopted by the Government of the State of Western Australia;
- (g) any relevant proposed new town planning scheme of the Council or amendment or proposed Metropolitan Region Scheme Amendment insofar as they can be regarded as seriously entertained planning proposals;
- (h) the comments or wishes of any public or municipal authority received as part of the submission process;
- (i) the comments or wishes of any objectors to or supporters of the application;
- (j) any previous decision made by the Council in circumstances which are sufficiently similar for the previous decision to be relevant as a precedent, provided that the Council shall not be bound by such precedent; and
- (k) any other matter which in the opinion of the Council is relevant.

6.8.2 In addition to the matters referred to in the preceding subclause of this clause, the Council when considering whether or not to approve a "D" or "A" use application shall have due regard to the following (whether or not by implication or otherwise they might have required consideration under the preceding subclauses of this clause)—

- (a) the nature of the proposed use and its relationship to the use of other land within the locality;
- (b) the size, shape and character of the parcel of land to which the application relates and the nature and siting of any proposed building;
- (c) the nature of the roads giving access to the subject land;
- (d) the parking facilities available or proposed and the likely requirements for parking, arising from the proposed development;
- (e) any relevant submissions or objections received by the Council; and
- (f) such other matters as the Council considers relevant, whether of the same nature as the foregoing or otherwise.

6.9 POWER TO DETERMINE APPLICATIONS FOR PLANNING APPROVAL

 $6.9.1\, The \, Council \, having \, regard \, to \, the \, appropriateness \, of \, any \, proposed \, application \, for \, planning \, approval \, may—$

- (a) refuse to grant its approval;
- (b) grant approval without conditions;
- (c) grant approval subject to such conditions and requirements as it deems fit; or
- (d) defer consideration or determination of the application to a later meeting if in the Council's view additional information for, or more detailed investigation of the proposal is required.
- 6.9.2 Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Council may, where it deems appropriate, grant a Planning Approval which—
 - (a) if not commenced, substantially commenced, or completed as the case may be within the period of time specified in the Approval shall cease to be valid; or
 - (b) permits the use and/or other development of land to occur for a limited period of time specified in the approval, after the expiration of which period the use and/or other development shall cease and unless otherwise stipulated by the Council the site shall be restored to the condition existing at the time when the Approval was given, unless a further Approval has been sought and obtained

6.9.3 The Council shall convey its decision to an applicant by way of the form prescribed under the Metropolitan Region Scheme for such purpose, or in any format that may be determined by the Council from time to time.

6.9.4 If the Council in exercising any discretion is required by the Scheme or by any other written law to have due regard to any matter or thing, it shall be deemed to have had due regard to such matter or thing unless the contrary is expressly stated in the Minutes of the relevant Council Meeting or the document communicating the determination for decision to the applicant, or is otherwise proved. In any event, due regard to the matter or thing by the responsible Committee or officer of the Council under delegated authority shall be sufficient compliance.

6.10 COMPLIANCE WITH CONDITIONS

6.10.1 If the Council, or the Minister or the Town Planning Appeal Tribunal on appeal from a decision of the Council, or any other decision making authority grants its approval of any development subject to conditions, no person shall use any land or building affected by the conditions or suffer or permit them to be used, or otherwise commence or carry out or suffer or permit the commencement or carrying out of any development on land otherwise than in accordance with the conditions.

6.10.2 The Council may, on application in writing from the owner of land in respect of which planning approval has been granted, revoke or amend the planning approval, prior to the commencement of the use or development subject of the planning approval.

6.11 APPROVALS ON APPEAL

In any case where a Planning Approval is given by the Minister or the Town Planning Appeal Tribunal on appeal from the Council, or where a condition is imposed by the Minister or the Tribunal, then that approval and/or any such conditions shall be deemed for the purpose of enforcement to have been imposed by the Council under the Scheme and may be enforced by the Council as such.

6.12 APPROVAL OF EXISTING DEVELOPMENTS

- 6.12.1 The Council may give planning approval to a development already commenced or carried out regardless of when it was commenced or carried out. Such approval shall have the same effect for all purposes as if it had been given prior to the commencement or carrying out of the development, but provided that the development complies with the provisions of the Scheme as to all matters other than the provisions requiring Council's approval prior to the commencement of development.
- 6.12.2 An application to the Council for planning approval under subclause 6.12.1 shall be made on such form as the Council provides from time to time.
- 6.12.3 A development which was not permissible under the Scheme at the time it was commenced or carried out may be approved if at the time of approval under this subclause it is permissible.
- 6.12.4 The approval by the Council of an existing development shall not affect the power of the Council to take appropriate action for a breach of the Scheme or the Act in respect of the commencement of the development without approval.

PART 7—NON-CONFORMING USES

7.1 NON-CONFORMING USES

Except as otherwise provided in this Scheme, no provision of the Scheme shall be deemed to prevent—

- (a) the continued use of any land or building for the purpose for which it was being lawfully used at the Gazettal date of the Scheme; or
- (b) the carrying out of any development thereon for which, immediately prior to that time, an approval or approvals, lawfully required to authorise the development to be carried out, were duly obtained and are current; or
- (c) subject to clause 5.1.6, the continued display of advertisements which were lawfully erected, placed or displayed prior to the approval of this Scheme.

7.2 EXTENSIONS AND CHANGES TO A NON-CONFORMING USE

- 7.2.1 A person shall not alter or extend a non-conforming use or erect, alter or extend a building used in conjunction with a non-conforming use or change the use of land from a non-conforming use to another non-conforming use without first having applied for and obtained planning approval under the Schame
- 7.2.2 An application for planning approval under this clause shall be advertised in accordance with clause 6.7.1.
- 7.2.3 Where an application is for a change of use from an existing non-conforming use to another non-conforming use, the Council shall not grant its planning approval unless the proposed use is—
 - (a) substantially less detrimental to the amenity of the locality than the existing non-conforming use; and
 - (b) in the opinion of the Council is closer to the intended purpose of the zone.

7.3 DISCONTINUANCE OF NON-CONFORMING USE

When a non-conforming use of any land or buildings has been discontinued for a period of six months such land or buildings shall not thereafter be used otherwise than in conformity with the provisions of the Scheme.

7.4 TERMINATION OF A NON-CONFORMING USE

The Council may effect the discontinuance of a non-conforming use by the purchase of the land and buildings, or by the payment of compensation to the owner or the occupier or to both the owner and the occupier of that land, and may enter into an agreement with the owner for that purpose.

PART 8—FINANCE AND ADMINISTRATION

8.1 ADDITIONAL POWERS OF THE SCHEME

- 8.1.1 The Council in implementing the Scheme has, in addition to all other powers vested in it, the following powers—
 - (a) The Council may enter into an agreement with any owner, occupier or other person having an interest in land affected by the provisions of the Scheme in respect of any matters pertaining to the Scheme
 - (b) The Council may acquire any land or buildings within the Scheme Area pursuant to the provisions of the Scheme or the Act. The Council may deal with or dispose of any land which it has acquired pursuant to the provisions of the Scheme or the Act in accordance with the law and for such purpose may make such agreements with other owners as it considers fit.

- 8.1.2 The procedure for carrying out any compulsory acquisition under this Scheme shall be the procedure in the Land Acquisition and Public Works Act 1902 subject to the modification referred to in Section 13 of the Town Planning and Development Act 1928 (as amended).
- 8.1.3 Without affecting the generality of the preceding subclause, to facilitate coordinated structure planning and development the Council may, with the prior consent of the Minister, acquire premises by purchase or resumption on behalf of a landowner who is endeavouring to develop land to comply with an Agreed Structure Plan, provided that the landowner—
 - (a) proves to the Council's satisfaction that during a period of not less than six months, bone fide negotiations to acquire the premises have not been successful; and
 - (b) enters into an agreement with the Council to meet all the costs of purchase or resumption including the Council's legal costs, and to develop the premises for the purposes specified within the specified time limit.

8.1.4 Disposal of Land

The Council may deal with or dispose of any land which it has acquired pursuant to the preceding subclauses, in accordance with the Act and in conformity with the provisions of the Scheme, upon such terms and conditions as it thinks fit, and for such purpose may make such agreements with other owners and parties as it thinks fit.

8.2 AMENITY

- 8.2.1 No building shall be so constructed, finished or left unfinished that its external appearance would significantly detract from the amenity of the locality or tend to depreciate the value of adjoining property. All land and buildings shall be so used and maintained as to preserve the local amenity.
- 8.2.2 No land, building or appliance shall be used in such a manner as to permit the escape therefrom of smoke, dust, fumes, odour, noise, glare, vibration or waste products in such quantity or extent or in such a manner as will create or be a nuisance to any inhabitant, or to traffic or persons using any land or roads in the vicinity.
- 8.2.3 If the Council forms the opinion that there has been a breach of the requirements of the preceding subclauses it may, by notice in writing, require the owner to make good the breach in the manner and within the time stated in the notice. The notice may be served on the owner personally or by posting it to the last address of the owner known to the Council, and if served by post, shall be deemed to have been served three (3) clear days after the date of posting.
- 8.2.4 Any person upon whom a notice is served pursuant to this clause may, within 28 days of the date of service of the notice on that person, appeal pursuant to Part V of the Act against the requirements of the notice and, where any such appeal is lodged the effect of the notice shall be suspended until a decision to uphold, quash or vary the notice has been made on the appeal or the appeal has been withdrawn, whereupon the time stated in the notice shall again begin to run.
- 8.2.5 Failure to comply with a notice under this clause shall be a breach of the provisions of the Scheme.

8.3 UNKEMPT LAND

- 8.3.1 On any land within the Scheme Area any undergrowth, refuse, rubbish or disused material which in the opinion of the Council is likely to affect adversely the value of adjoining property or the health, comfort or convenience of the inhabitants thereof, the Council may cause a notice to be served on the owner or occupier of such land requiring that the land is cleared of trees, scrub, undergrowth, refuse or rubbish, or such refuse, rubbish or disused material is removed from such land within a specified period.
- 8.3.2 Every owner or occupier of land upon whom a notice is served shall comply with such notice within the time period therein specified.
- 8.3.3 Where the owner or occupier does not clear the land or remove the refuse, rubbish or disused material as required by the notice given by the Council, the Council may without payment or any compensation in respect thereof, clear or remove it and dispose of it at the expense of and recover in a court of competent jurisdiction the amount of the expense from the owner or occupier to whom the notice is given.
- 8.3.4 Failure to comply with a notice under this clause shall be a breach of the provisions of the Scheme

8.4 APPEALS

Should an applicant, a proponent or an owner of land the subject of an application be aggrieved by a decision given or deemed to have been given by the Council in the exercise of a discretionary power under the Scheme or by a determination of the Commission under Part 9 the applicant, proponent or owner may appeal pursuant to Part V of the Act and the rules and regulations made pursuant to the

8.5 COMPENSATION

- 8.5.1 A claim for compensation for injurious affection can be made pursuant to Section 11 of the Town Planning Act when the Scheme—
 - (a) permits development on land for no purpose other than a public purpose;
 - (b) prohibits wholly or partially the continuance of any non-conforming use according to the terms of the Act.
- 8.5.2 The time limit for the making of claims for compensation for injurious affection pursuant to Section 11(1) of the Act resultant from the making of, or the making of an amendment to, the Scheme, is six (6) months from the date of publication of the Scheme or Scheme Amendment in the *Government Gazette*.

8.5.3 In addition to the compensation provisions of the Act and sub-clause 8.5.1 of this Scheme, where, in respect of any application for planning approval to commence or carry out development on land reserved under this Scheme, the Council, or any appellate body thereafter, refuses or grants approval subject to conditions such that the effect of the decision is to permit the land to be used or developed for no purpose other than a public purpose, the owner of the land may claim compensation from the Council for injurious affection.

8.5.4 The time limit for the making of claims for compensation pursuant to sub-clause 8.5.3 is not later than 6 months after the date of the decision of the Council or appellate body.

8.6 DELEGATION OF DEVELOPMENT CONTROL POWERS, AND POWERS AND DUTIES IN RELATION TO OTHER PLANNING FUNCTIONS

8.6.1 The Council may, either generally or in a particular case or particular class of case or cases, by resolution passed by an absolute majority of Council, delegate to all or any of the persons or committees referred to in Schedule 6 any power conferred or duly imposed on the Council under this Scheme.

8.6.2 Any delegation made under sub-cause 8.6.1 shall have effect for the period of twelve (12) months following the resolution unless the Council stipulates a lesser or greater period in the resolution.

8.6.3 A delegation of authority pursuant to the provisions of this clause has effect and may be exercised according to its tenor, but is revocable at the will of the Council and does not preclude the Council from exercising the power.

8.6.4 A resolution to revoke or amend a delegation under this clause may be passed by a simple majority.

8.6.5 A committee, member or officer exercising the power delegated pursuant to the provisions of this clause shall comply with the provisions of the Scheme governing the exercise of the power of the Council, insofar as such provisions are reasonably applicable.

8.6.6 A person who is or has been a delegate of the Council is not personally liable for anything done or omitted in good faith in, or in connection with, the exercise or purported exercise of any powers conferred, or the carrying out of any duty imposed on the Council by this Scheme.

8.7 ENTRY TO PREMISES

Any officer of the Council may enter at all reasonable times any premises within the Scheme Area for the purposes of ascertaining whether the provisions of the Scheme are being complied with, and at the time of entry may do all things reasonably necessary to record evidence of any non-compliance.

8.8 GENERAL OBLIGATIONS

Subject to the provisions of the Act and all regulations made thereunder and to Part 7 of the Scheme, no person shall depart from or permit or suffer any departure from the requirements and provisions of the Scheme, nor shall any person commence or carry out or permit the commencement or carrying out of any development which—

- (a) does not conform with the Scheme; or
- (b) being or involving a use or other development which requires the approval of the Council or the Commission or both, does not have such approval or approvals is not permitted; or
- (c) does not comply with the terms of any approval or any condition attached thereto.

8.9 NOTICE FOR REMOVAL OF CERTAIN BUILDINGS

8.9.1 Twenty eight (28) days' written notice is hereby prescribed as the notice to be given pursuant to Section 10 of the Town Planning Act for the removal of certain buildings.

8.9.2 Council may recover expenses under section 10(2) of the Act in a court of competent jurisdiction.

8.10 OFFENCES

8.10.1 No person shall depart from or permit or suffer any departure from the requirements and provisions of the Scheme, nor shall any person use or suffer or permit the use of any land or building or undertake or suffer or permit the undertaking of any development within the Scheme Area—

- (a) otherwise than in accordance with the provisions of the Scheme;
- (b) unless all approvals required by the Scheme have been granted and issued;
- (c) unless all conditions imposed upon the grant and issue of any approval required by the Scheme have been and continue to be complied with;
- (d) unless all standards laid down and all requirements prescribed by the Scheme or determined by the Council pursuant to the Scheme with respect to that building or that use of that part have been and continue to be complied with.

8.10.2 Any person who fails to comply with any of the provisions of the Scheme is guilty of an offence and without prejudice to any other remedy given herein is liable to such penalties as are prescribed by Section 10 of the Act.

8.11 LOCAL PLANNING POLICIES

8.11.1 The Council may prepare a Local Planning Policy in respect of any matter related to the planning and development of the Scheme Area so as to apply—

- (a) generally or for a particular class or classes of matters; and
- (b) throughout the Scheme Area or in one or more parts of the Scheme Area;

and may amend or add to or rescind a Policy so prepared.

8.11.2 Relationship of Local Planning Policies to Scheme

8.11.2.1 Any Local Planning Policy prepared under this Part shall be consistent with the Scheme and if any inconsistency arises the Scheme shall prevail.

- 8.11.2.2 A Local Planning Policy is not part of the Scheme and shall not bind the Council in respect of any application for planning approval but the Council shall have due regard to the provisions of any Policy and the objectives which the Policy is designed to achieve before making its decision.
- 8.11.3 Procedures for Making and Amending a Local Planning Policy
 - 8.11.3.1 Local Planning Policy shall become operative only after the following procedures have been completed—
 - (a) The Council having prepared and adopted a draft Policy shall advertise the draft Policy by way of a notice published once a week for two consecutive weeks in a local newspaper circulating within the Scheme Area and by such other methods as the Council may consider appropriate to ensure notice of the draft Policy, giving details of where the draft Policy may be inspected, the subject and nature of the draft Policy, and in what form and during what period (being not less than 21 days from the date specified in the notice) submissions may be made;
 - (b) the Council shall carry out such other consultations as it thinks fit;
 - (c) the Council shall review the draft Policy in the light of any submissions made and shall then resolve either to finally adopt the draft Policy with or without modification, or not to proceed with the draft Policy;
 - (d) following final adoption of a Policy, notification of the final adoption shall be published once in a newspaper circulating within the Scheme Area; and
 - (e) where, in the opinion of the Council, the provisions of any Policy affect the interests of the Commission, a copy of the Policy shall be forwarded to the Commission.
 - 8.11.3.2 Copies of any Policy shall be kept and made available for public inspection at the offices of the Council.
 - 8.11.3.3 Any amendment or addition to a Policy shall follow the procedures set out in (a)—(e) above.
- 8.11.4 Rescission of a Local Planning Policy

A local Planning Policy may be rescinded by—

- (a) the preparation or final adoption of a new Policy pursuant to clause 8.11.3 specifically worded to supersede an existing Policy; or
- (b) publication of a formal notice of rescission by the Council once a week for two consecutive weeks in a local newspaper circulating within the Scheme Area.
- 8.11.5 Any Planning Policy adopted and approved under the City's Town Planning Scheme No 1 immediately before the revocation of Scheme No 1 shall have the status of a Local Planning Policy as if it was prepared and adopted under the provisions of this Scheme.
- 8.11.6 When a draft Planning Policy was prepared under the provisions of Town Planning Scheme No 1 but had not completed the procedures required to give it the status of an adopted and approved Planning Policy under that Scheme by the time the Scheme was revoked, then the procedures may be completed under this Scheme. In that case all procedures required for the preparation and adoption of the Planning Policy shall be deemed to have been carried out under this Scheme and when the procedures are completed the Planning Policy shall have effect for all purposes as a Local Planning Policy under this Scheme.

PART 9—STRUCTURE PLANS

9.1 COUNCIL MAY REQUIRE STRUCTURE PLAN

- $9.1.1\,\mathrm{The}$ Council may require the preparation and presentation to it of a Structure Plan as a prerequisite to—
 - (a) the Council's support for a proposal to rezone or reclassify land in the District;
 - (b) the Council's support for an application to subdivide or amalgamate lots; or
 - (c) the Council's consideration of an application for Planning Approval.
- 9.1.2 To facilitate the efficient preparation of Structure Plans the Council may deal simultaneously with a number of Structure Plans in relation to the same area.

9.2 DETERMINATION OF STRUCTURE PLAN AREA

The Council shall determine the area to be covered by a Structure Plan required under the provisions of clause 9.1 upon the application of any of the following criteria it considers appropriate—

- (a) the pattern of roads, bus routes and dual-use paths both existing and proposed, in the surrounding area;
- (b) the pattern and type of existing subdivision in the surrounding area;
- (c) existing and proposed land uses on the subject land and in the surrounding area;
- (d) the land form, topography, vegetation, groundwater, wetlands and other natural features of the subject land and the surrounding area;
- (e) the availability of necessary services;
- (f) relevant expressed desires and attitudes of landowners and inhabitants of the surrounding area;
- (g) any other matter the Council considers relevant in the circumstances of the case.

9.3 MATTERS TO BE INCLUDED

A Structure Plan shall have regard to or include those matters listed in Schedule 7 that are appropriate. Without limiting the generality of Schedule 7 the Council may require any other matter to be included in a Structure Plan.

9.4 SUBMISSION OF STRUCTURE PLAN TO COUNCIL

- 9.4.1 A Structure Plan shall be prepared by the proponent and, to the extent that it is practicable, should be prepared after discussion and consultation with the Council, the Commission, other relevant government agencies and the community. A Structure Plan shall be submitted to the Council in quadruplicate or such other quantity specified by the Council. The Council in the exercise of its discretion may do any of the following—
 - (a) determine that the Structure Plan is satisfactory, send a copy to the Commission, and advertise it under the provisions of clause 9.5. Advertising of Structure Plans subject to minor modifications may be waived at the discretion of the Council.
 - (b) determine that the Structure Plan should not be advertised until specified matters have been included in it or have otherwise been attended to by the proponent; or
 - (c) determine that the Structure Plan should not be agreed to for stated reasons.

9.4.2 If within sixty (60) days of receiving a Structure Plan for agreement which accords with Clause 9.3 the council has not made one of the determinations referred to in the preceding paragraphs (clause 9.4.1), the proponent may deem that the Council has determined that the Structure plan should not be agreed to.

9.5 PUBLIC NOTICE

9.5.1 Before a Structure Plan is considered under the provisions of clause 9.6, the Council shall ensure that adequate publicity is given. Such publicity shall be undertaken by the proponent in accordance with the provisions of clause 6.7 as may be directed by the Council.

9.5.2 Any notice given under this clause shall be in such terms as will explain the scope and purpose of the Structure Plan and where and when it may be inspected, and shall invite submissions from all affected landowners, relevant government agencies and the community.

9.6 CONSIDERATION OF STRUCTURE PLAN

9.6.1 The Council shall consider all submissions received and within sixty (60) days of the date or the latest date specified in the notice given under clause 9.5 shall do one or other of the following—

- (a) refuse to adopt the Structure Plan;
- (b) resolve that the Structure Plan is satisfactory with or without modifications which the Council may require the proponent to make and submit three copies to the Commission for adoption and certification in the form illustrated in Schedule 8;

9.6.2 Where the Council in its opinion is not able to make a decision within the terms of either paragraph (a) or paragraph (b) of the preceding subclause within the sixty (60) day period by reason of the need to obtain more facts or information, the sixty (60) day period referred to in the preceding subclause may, with the consent of the proponent, be extended for a maximum of a further sixty (60) days, and the sixty (60) day period for a deemed refusal under subclause 9.6.4 shall not begin to run until the second sixty (60) day period has expired or the Council has declared itself to be satisfied that it has sufficient information to make a determination, whichever occurs first.

This extension of time is only available with the written consent of the proponent.

- 9.6.3 Consideration of the Structure Plan by the Western Australian Planning Commission—
 - (a) The Commission may adopt the Structure Plan with or without requiring any modifications or it may refuse to adopt the Structure Plan and should convey its decision to the Council within sixty (60) days of the date on which it receives the Structure Plan for adoption under paragraph 9.6.1(b).
 - (b) If the Commission adopts the Structure Plan it should certify three (3) copies of the Structure Plan in the manner illustrated in Schedule 8 and return them to the Council within fourteen (14) days of the date of the Commission's resolution.
 - (c) If the Commission requires modifications to the Structure Plan the proponent shall make the modifications in consultation with the Council and resubmit the Structure Plan for consideration under clause 9.4.
 - (d) If the Commission refuses to adopt the Structure Plan and an appeal by the proponent is upheld, the proponent shall make any modifications that may be necessary for the Structure Plan to comply with the appeal determination and the Commission shall adopt and certify the Structure Plan pursuant to paragraphs (a) and (b) of this subclause.
 - (e) If either the time limits in (a) and (b) is inadequate to allow the Commission to perform its functions in the case of any Structure Plan referred to it, the times shall be extended by such period as the Commission reasonably requires in order to perform its function under this subclause.
- 9.6.4 If within the sixty (60) day period referred to in subclause 9.6.1 or the extended period referred to in subclause 9.6.2, the Council has not made a decision within the terms of either paragraph (a) or paragraph (b) of subclause 9.6.1, then at the option of the proponent approval of the Structure Plan may be deemed refused for the purpose of giving a right of appeal.
- $9.6.5~\mathrm{As}$ soon as practicable after receiving the Structure Plan documents referred to in paragraph 9.6.3(b) the Council shall adopt, sign and seal the Structure Plan in the form illustrated in Schedule 8.

9.6.6 The Council shall provide a copy of the Agreed Structure Plan to the proponent, the Commission, and to any other appropriate person or statutory authority which the Council considers should receive a copy.

9.6.7 The Scheme Map shall be appropriately flagged, marked or annotated on the Council's copy to draw attention to the existence of the Agreed Structure Plan.

9.7 AMENDMENT OR REVOCATION OF AGREED STRUCTURE PLAN

Any Agreed Structure Plan may, subject to the approval of the Commission, be amended or revoked by the Council. Public Notice of the amendment or revocation shall be given in accordance with clause 9.5 but, in the case of an amendment the public notification may be waived when the amendment is considered by the Council to be of a minor nature such as not to materially alter the intent of the Agreed Structure Plan or cause any significant detriment to land within or abutting the Structure Plan area. Such of the provisions of clause 9.6 as the Council considers appropriate in the circumstances of any case may be applied to the amendment of an Agreed Structure Plan.

9.8 OPERATION OF AGREED STRUCTURE PLAN

9.8.1 An Agreed Structure Plan shall come into operation on the date it is adopted by the Commission pursuant to subclause 9.6.1.

9.8.2 Where an Agreed Structure Plan imposes a classification on the land included in it by reference to reserves, zones (including Special Use Zones) or Residential Density Codes, until it is replaced by an amendment to the Scheme imposing such classifications—

- (a) the provisions of the Agreed Structure Plan shall apply to the land within it as if its provisions were incorporated in this Scheme and it shall be binding and enforceable in the same way as corresponding provisions incorporated in the Scheme; and
- (b) provisions in the Scheme applicable to land in those classifications under the Scheme shall apply with the necessary changes or alterations to the Agreed Structure Plan area.
- 9.8.3 Without limiting the generality of the preceding subclause, under an Agreed Structure Plan—
 - (a) in the areas designated as zones, the permissibility of uses shall be the same as set out in the Zoning Table as if those areas were zones under the Scheme, having the same designation;
 - (b) the standards and requirements applicable to zones and R Codings under the Scheme shall apply with the necessary changes or alterations to the areas having corresponding designations under the Agreed Structure Plan. However an Agreed Structure Plan may make provision for any standard or requirement applicable to zones or R Codings to be varied, and the standard or requirement varied in that way shall apply within the area of the Agreed Structure Plan, or any stipulated part of that area, as if it was a variation incorporated in this Scheme; and
 - (c) the development control procedures including (without limitation) the procedures for approval of uses and developments under the Scheme shall apply as if the land was correspondingly zoned or reserved under the Scheme;
 - (d) provisions duplicating or substantially to the same effect as any provisions of the Scheme shall have the same force and effect in regard to the land in the Structure Plan as if they were provisions of the Scheme;
 - (e) where land is classified as a Local Authority Reservation, the rights, provisions and procedures, and the obligation of the Council in regard to compensation shall apply as if the land was correspondingly reserved under the Scheme;
 - (f) any other provision, standard or requirement in the Structure Plan shall be given the same force and effect as if it was a provision standard or requirement of this Scheme, but in the event of there being any inconsistency or conflict between any provision, requirement or standard of the Scheme and any provision requirement or standard of an Agreed Structure Plan, the provision requirement or standard of the Scheme shall prevail;
 - (g) an Agreed Structure Plan may distinguish between provisions, requirements or standards which are intended to have effect as if included in the Scheme, and provisions, requirements or standards not so intended, and it is only the provisions so intended which have that effect. Any other provisions are for guidance or information only, or such other purpose as stipulated in the Agreed Structure Plan documents.

9.9 COMPLIANCE WITH AGREED STRUCTURE PLAN

Where land is subject to any obligation or liability under an Agreed Structure Plan, the land shall not be subdivided or in any other way developed unless arrangements satisfactory to the Council have first been made for the discharge of that obligation or liability.

9.10 COPYRIGHT AND OWNERSHIP

A proponent shall transfer to the Council in writing at no cost to the Council, all copyright ownership of Structure Plans together with all supporting documentation submitted to the Council, and Agreed Structure Plans adopted by the Council, (whether in graphic, textual or digital form).

9.11 DEVELOPMENT PRIOR TO ADOPTION OF STRUCTURE PLAN

If Council is required to consider an application in respect of a development, use or subdivision proposal before a Structure Plan has been prepared and adopted, then the Council shall, in addition to any other matters required by this Scheme to be considered, have regard to the following considerations—

- (a) as an overriding consideration, the intent of the application;
- (b) the desirability from a planning point of view of having an Agreed Structure Plan in place before development or subdivision occurs; and

(c) the interests of orderly and proper planning, and concern for the amenity of the relevant locality in the short, intermediate and long term.

9.12 RECONSIDERATION AND APPEAL

- 9.12.1 If a proponent is dissatisfied by a requirement, or any decision or determination of the Council under this Part, the proponent may within 14 days of the imposition of the requirement or the making of the decision or determination request a reconsideration. Such request shall be in writing, delivered to the Council within the fourteen (14) day period.
- 9.12.2 The Council having been requested to reconsider under the preceding subclause shall endeavour to deal with the matter at the earliest possible opportunity after the request. A decision or determination made, or a requirement imposed, after reconsideration, shall be the decision, determination or requirement of the Council for all intents and purposes, if it is made or imposed within 35 days of the request, but otherwise the original decision, determination or requirement of the Council shall be the operative one for all purposes.
- 9.12.3 If the Council or the Commission makes a determination or decision or imposes a requirement in respect of a Structure Plan in the exercise of a power contained in this Part and the proponent of the Structure Plan is dissatisfied with such determination or decision, the proponent may appeal to the Minister or the Town Planning Appeal Tribunal against the decision, determination or requirement in accordance with Part V of the Act.
- 9.12.4 The rights of appeal conferred by the preceding subclause are additional to the rights arising under Section 8a of the Act.
- 9.12.5 Where a request for reconsideration is made in accordance with subclause 9.12.1, the time for appealing shall run from the date of the later decision, determination or requirement if made or imposed within 35 days of the request for reconsideration, or from the expiration of the 35 day period if a decision, determination or requirement is not made or imposed within that time.
- 9.12.6 If, after an appeal has been determined, any requirement of the Council or the appeal body arising from the appeal remains to be complied with, that requirement shall be complied with before the process of preparation and adoption of the Structure Plan is continued.

9.13 STRUCTURE PLANS UNDER TOWN PLANNING SCHEME NO.1

- 9.13.1 When a Structure Plan was adopted and approved under a previous town planning scheme and had the status of an Agreed Structure Plan under the City's Town Planning Scheme No.1 immediately before the revocation of Scheme No.1, it shall have the status of an Agreed Structure Plan under this Scheme as if it was prepared and adopted under the provisions of this Scheme.
- 9.13.2 Where a draft Structure Plan was prepared under the provisions of Town Planning Scheme No.1 but had not completed the procedures required to give it the status of an Agreed Structure Plan under that Scheme by the time the Scheme was revoked, then the procedures may be completed under this Scheme. In that case all procedures required for the preparation and adoption of the Structure Plan shall be deemed to have been carried out under this Scheme and when the procedures are completed the Structure Plan shall have effect for all purposes as an Agreed Structure Plan under this Scheme.
- 9.13.3 Where a Structure Plan has effect under this Scheme by force of the provisions of subclause 9.13.1, or where the procedures for making an Agreed Structure Plan are to be completed under this Scheme in accordance with subclause 9.13.2, any change in title of the Structure Plan or in other matters whatsoever shall be made to the extent only that it is necessary to provide it with the form of an Agreed Structure Plan under this Scheme, and to make its terms consistent in all ways with the provisions of this Scheme, including (but without limiting the generality of the foregoing) any standards or requirements.

TABLE 1 (CLAUSE 3.2)—THE ZONING TABLE

ZONES	Residential	l Use	ess	Commercial	& Cultural	te /Recreation	e Industrial	al Residential	
USE CLASSES	Resid	Mixed	Business	Comn	Civic	Private Clubs/R	Service	Special	Rural
Abattoir	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X
Aged or Dependent Persons' Dwelling	D	D	D	D	X	X	X	X	X
Amusement Facility/Parlour	X	X	D	D	D	D	D	X	X
Ancillary Accommodation	D	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X
Animal Husbandry	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	D
Aquaculture	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	D
Art Gallery	X	D	P	P	P	P	X	X	Α
Auction Room	X	D	D	D	X	X	P	X	X
Bakery	X	D	D	D	X	X	D	X	X
Bank	X	P	P	P	X	X	X	X	X
Beauty Parlour	X	P	P	P	X	D	X	X	X
Bed & Breakfast	D	P	D	P	X	D	X	D	D
Car Park	X	D	P	P	P	P	P	X	X

ZONEG					ral	ion	Service Industrial	Special Residential	
ZONES	-	_		a	Civic & Cultural	Private Clubs/Recreation	dust	side	
	Residential	Mixed Use	SS	Commercial	1) z	Reci	In	l Re	
	ide	ked	Business	nme	ic 8	vate bs/l	vice	cia	تعا
USE CLASSES	Res	Miy	Bu	Co	Civ	Pri Clu	Ser	Spe	Rural
Car Wash	X	X	D	D	X	X	P	X	X
Caravan Park	A	X	X	X	X	P	X	X	X
Caretaker's Flat/House	D	D	D	D	D	D	D	X	X
Cattery	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	D	D
Child Care Centre	D X	D X	D D	D D	D D	D D	X X	D X	X X
Cinema Cinema Complex	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X
Civic Building	D	D	D	D	P	D	X	X	X
Club (Non-Residential)	X	X	D	P	D	D	D	X	X
Communication Antenna—Domestic	P	P	D	D	X	X	X	P	D
Communication Antenna	D	D	D	D	X	X	D	X	D
Concrete Batching Plant	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X
Consulting Rooms	D	P	P	P	D	X	X	D	X
Convenience Store Corner Store	X X	D P	P P	P P	X X	D X	D X	X X	X X
Costume Hire	X	D	P	P	X	X	D	X	X
Department Store	X	X	X	D	X	X	X	X	X
Drive In Theatre	X	X	X	X	D	D	X	X	X
Drive Through Food Outlet	X	X	D	D	X	X	X	X	X
Dry Cleaning Premises	X	X	D	P	X	X	P	X	X
Education Establishment	X	D	D	D	D	D	D	X	X
Equestrian Activity	X	X	X	X	X	D	X	X	X
Equipment Hire Fuel Depot	X X	X X	D X	X X	X X	X X	D D	X X	X X
Funeral Parlour	X	X	D	D	X	X	D	X	X
Garden Centre	X	X	P	P	X	X	P	X	X
Golf Course	X	X	X	X	X	D	X	X	X
Grouped Dwelling	D	D	D	D	X	X	X	X	X
Hairdresser	X	P	P	P	X	D	X	X	X
Hall	X	D	D	D	P	D	X	X	X
Hardware Store	X X	X X	D X	P X	X X	X D	D X	X X	X X
Holiday Village/Resort Home Business—Category 1	A P	A P	A P	A P	X	X	X	A P	X
Home Business—Category 2	D	P	P	P	X	X	X	P	X
Home Business—Category 3	Ā	P	P	P	X	X	X	D	X
Hospital	X	X	D	D	D	X	X	X	X
Hotel	X	X	D	D	X	D	X	X	X
Industry—Extractive	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X
Industry—General	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X
Industry Light	X X	X X	X X	X X	X X	X X	X P	X X	X X
Industry—Light Industry—Rural	X	X	X	X	X	X	D	X	X
Kindergarten	D	D	D	D	D	D	X	X	X
Landscape Supplies	X	X	X	X	X	X	D	X	X
Laundrette	X	X	P	P	X	X	P	X	X
Laundry	X	X	D	D	X	X	P	X	X
Liquor Store	X	X	D	P	X	X	X	X	X
Lunch Bar	X	P	P	P	X	X	D	X	X
Market (Retail) Market Garden	X X	X X	D X	D X	X X	X X	X X	X X	X X
Medical Centre	X	A P	A P	A P	A D	X	X	X	X
Milk Depot	X	X	X	X	X	X	D	X	X
Motel	X	X	D	D	X	D	X	X	X
Multiple Dwelling	D	D	D	D	X	D	X	X	X
Night Club	X	X	D	D	X	D	D	X	X
Nursing Home	D	D	D	D	D	X	X	X	X
Office	X	P	P	P	X	X	X	X	X
Open Air Display	X	X	X	X	X	X	D	X	X

ZONES USE CLASSES	Residential	Mixed Use	Business	Commercial	Civic & Cultural	Private Clubs/Recreation	Service Industrial	Special Residential	Rural
		D							
Park	D		D	D	D	D	D	D	D
Park Home Park	D	X	X	X	X	D	X	X	X
Place of Assembly	X	D	D	D	P	D	D	X	X
Place of Worship	X	D	D	D	P	D	D	X	X
Private Recreation	X	D	D	D	D	P	X	X	X
Public Exhibition Facility	X	D	D	D	P	P	X	X	X
Reception Centre	X	D	D	P	D	D	X	X	X
Recreation Centre	X	D	D	D	D	D	D	X	X
Residential Building	D	D	D	D	X	D	X	X	X
Restaurant	X	D	P	P	D	D	X	X	Α
Restricted Premises	X	X	X	D	X	X	X	X	X
Retirement Village	D	D	D	D	X	D	X	X	X
Road House	X	X	D	D	X	X	D	X	X
Rural Use	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	P
Salvage Yard	X	X	X	X	X	X	D	X	X
Service Station	X	X	D	D	X	X	D	X	X
Shop	X	X	X	P	X	X	X	X	X
Showroom	X	X	P	P	X	X	P	X	X
Single House	P	P	D	D	X	X	X	P	P
Special Place of Assembly	X	X	X	X	D	D	X	X	X
Sports Ground	X	X	X	X	D	D	X	X	X
Stables	X	X	X	X	X	D	X	X	P
Storage Yard	X	X	X	X	X	X	D	X	X
Supermarket	X	X	X	P	X	X	X	X	X
Take Away Food Outlet	X	X	P	P	D	D	X	X	X
Tavern	X	X	D	D	X	D	X	X	X
Theatre	X	X	P	P	D	D	X	X	X
Trade Display	X	X	X	X	X	X	D	X	X
Transport Depot	X	X	X	X	X	X	P	X	X
Vehicle Repairs	X	X	X	X	X	X	D	X	X
Vehicle Sales/Hire Premises	X	X	D	D	X	X	P	X	X
Vehicle Wrecking	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X
Veterinary Consulting Rooms	X	X	P	P	X	X	P	X	Α
Veterinary Hospital	X	X	D	D	X	X	P	X	Α
Warehouse	X	X	D	X	X	X	P	X	X

For Zones which have not been listed in this table refer to—

- 3.11 The Centre Zone
- 3.12 The Urban Development Zone
- 3.17 The Special Use Zone

TABLE 2 (CLAUSE 4.8)—CAR PARKING STANDARDS

USE CLASS	NUMBER OF ON-SITE PARKING BAYS (NLA = NET LETTABLE AREA)
Aged or dependent persons dwelling	1 per dwelling
Car sales premises	1 per 200m ² of display area plus 1 per employee
Caravan Park	1 per 10 sites
Child Care Centre	Not less than 5 and 1 per staff member
Consulting Rooms	Minimum of 5
Corner Store	4 per 100m² NLA
Drive Through Food Outlet	1 per 4 guests in seated areas plus 7 per 100m² for non seating areas
Funeral Parlour	1 per 4 persons accommodated
Garden Centre	1 per 500m² of site area used for display plus 1 per 10m² NLA internal display area
Grouped Dwelling	As per the Residential Planning Codes

USE CLASS	NUMBER OF ON-SITE PARKING BAYS (NLA = NET LETTABLE AREA)
Health Centre	1 per 30m² NLA
Hospital	1 per 3 patients accommodated plus 1 space for each staff member on duty
Hotel	1 per bedroom plus 1 per 3m² drinking area plus 1 per 5m² for seating area
Industrial	1 per 50m² NLA
Medical Centre	5 per practitioner
Motel	1 per unit plus 1 per 5m ² of dining room
Multiple Dwelling	As per the Residential Planning Codes
Office	1 per 30m² NLA
Primary School	2 per classroom but not less than 10
Public Worship	1 per 4 seats
Residential Building	1 per 2 persons
Restaurant	Greater of 1 per 5m ² of dining room or 1 per 4 guests
Secondary School	2 per classroom but not less than 10
Service Station	5 per service bay plus 7 per 100 m ² NLA of sales/display area
Shopping Centres under 10,000m ²	7 per 100m² NLA
Shopping Centres from 10,000 to 30,000m ²	700 bays for the first 10,000m² NLA plus 6.25 per 100m² NLA thereafter
Shopping Centres from 30,000 to 50,000m ²	1950 bays for the first 30,000m² NLA plus 5.25 per 100m² NLA thereafter
Shopping Centres greater than 50,000m²	3000 bays for the first $50,000 m^2$ NLA plus 4.8 per $100 m^2$ NLA thereafter
Showrooms	1 per 30m² NLA
Single house	As per the Residential Planning Codes
Take Away Food Outlet	1 per 4 guests in seated areas plus 7 per 100m ² NLA for non seating serving areas
Tavern/Club	1 per 3m ² NLA of standing area plus 1 per 5m ² for seating area
Tertiary College	1 per 3 students accommodated
Veterinary Consulting Rooms or Hospital	5 per practitioner

SCHEDULE 1 (CLAUSE 1.9)—INTERPRETATIONS

abattoir: means any land or buildings used for the slaughter of animals for human consumption and the treatment of carcasses, offal and by-products.

absolute majority: shall have the same meaning as given to the term in and for the purposes of the Local Government Act 1995.

Act: means the Town Planning and Development Act, 1928 (as amended).

advertisement: includes any sign or advertising device, and the term "advertising sign" has a corresponding meaning.

advertising: means the publication, display or presentation of any advertisement.

advertising device: means any object or structure on which any word, number, figure, image, drawing, representation or message whatsoever is written, placed, affixed, attached, painted, projected or otherwise displayed, or on which provision is made for the same, for the purpose of advertising any business, function, operation, development, event, undertaking, person or any product or thing whatsoever, and includes any airborne device anchored to any land or building or any vehicle or trailer or other similar object placed or located so as to serve the purpose of advertising any business, function, operation, development, event, undertaking, person or any product or thing whatsoever.

aged or dependent person: has the same meaning as is given to that term in the Residential Planning Codes.

Agreed Structure Plan: means a structure plan adopted under the provisions of Part 9 of the Scheme. **amenity:** means all those factors which combine to form the character of the area to residents and passers by and shall include the present and likely future amenity.

amusement facility: means any land or buildings, open to the public, used for not more than two amusement machines where such use is incidental to the predominant use.

amusement machine: means any machine, game, device or games table, whether mechanical, electronic or computer powered, or a combination of these, operated by one or more players for amusement and recreation.

amusement parlour: means any land or building, open to the public, where the predominant use is amusement by means of amusement machines and where there are more than two amusement machines operating within the premises.

ancillary accommodation: has the same meaning as is given to it in the Residential Planning

animal husbandry: means any land or buildings used for the breeding, keeping, rearing or fattening of pigs, poultry (for either egg or meat production), rabbits (for either meat, or fur production), and other livestock in feedlots.

applicant: means a person who is applying or has applied to the Council for Planning Approval.

aquaculture: shall have the same meaning as given to the term in and for the purposes of the Fish Resources Management Act 1994.

art gallery: means any land or buildings used to display art works which may be offered for sale.

auction room: means a room or rooms within a building in which goods are exposed or offered for sale by auction.

bakery: means any land or buildings used to make and/or display and sell bread and pastry products, and includes "hot bread" shops.

bank: means any land or building used for banking purposes.

battle-axe lot: means a lot having access to a public road by means of an access strip included in the Certificate of Title of that lot.

bay: see "car parking bay".

beauty parlour: means any land or buildings used for beauty therapy purposes.

bed & breakfast: means any dwelling in which the resident of the dwelling provides accommodation on an overnight or short-term basis, usually to the travelling public, and may include the provision of breakfast.

boat launching facility: means any land or building used to launch or retrieve boats into and from the water and may include a boat ramp or slip way.

building: means any structure or appurtenance thereto whether fixed or moveable, temporary or permanent, and without limiting the generality of the foregoing includes a shed, stall, fence, wall, barrier, hoarding, outbuilding, tent, caravan or swimming pool.

building envelope: means an area of land within a lot marked on a plan approved by the responsible authority within which all buildings not including boundary fences and effluent disposal facilities on the lot must be contained.

camping ground: shall have the same meaning as given to the term under the Caravan Parks and Camping Grounds Act 1995.

caravan park: shall have the same meaning as given to the term under the Caravan Parks and Camping Grounds Act 1995.

caretaker's dwelling: means a building used as a dwelling by a person having the care of the building, plant, equipment or grounds associated with an industry, business, office or recreation area carried on or existing on the same site.

car park: means premises used primarily for the parking of private vehicles or taxis whether open to the public or not but does not include any part of a public road which is used for the through movement of traffic or premises on or in which vehicles are displayed for sale or premises set aside to meet a specific parking requirement under the Scheme. The term includes the land required on site for access and manoeuvring to enable vehicles to gain access to car parking bays.

car parking bay: means that area of a lot which is required for the parking of a stationary motor vehicle to the minimum dimensions specified by the Scheme, constructed and paved to the specifications set down by the Council and includes where the context permits an area considered appropriate by the Council for access and manoeuvring on the site to allow a vehicle to gain access to a parking bay but does not include crossovers, service areas and landscaping. The terms bay and parking bay have the same meaning.

car wash: means any land or buildings used for mechanical vehicle washing. Such uses may or may not be associated with a service station and may include such other uses considered by Council to be ancillary to the predominant use of the land.

carry on: means in connection with the use or other development of land the same as "carry out".

carry out: means in connection with the use or other development of land the same as "carry on".

cattery: means the use of an approved outbuilding constructed in accordance with the Health Act Model By-Laws Series 'A' Part One—General Sanitary Provisions (1927) for the purpose of keeping more than three (3) cats over the age of three (3) months.

child care centre: means premises used for the daily or occasional care of children in accordance with the Community Services (Child Care) Regulations 1988.

cinema: means any land or building containing a single cinema screen where the public may view a motion picture.

cinema complex: means any land or building where the public may view a motion picture, and may include more than one cinema screen, and may include other minor and subsidiary amusements. **City:** means the City of Joondalup.

civic building: means premises designed used or intended to be used by any Federal, State or municipal government department, authority or body for the purpose of an office, hall or library, or a centre for cultural, recreational or social purposes, or for any other community service.

club (non-residential): means premises used for the purpose of club premises by an incorporated club or incorporated association or other body of persons united by a common interest (whether those premises be licensed under the provisions of the Liquor Act 1970 as amended or re-enacted or not) and which premises are not otherwise classified under the provisions of the Scheme.

- **Codes:** means the Residential Planning Codes, in Appendix 2 to the Western Australian Planning Commission Statement of Planning Policy No. 1. The terms R Codes and Residential Codes have the same meaning.
- commercial vehicle: means a vehicle whether licensed or not which is used or designed for use for business, trade or commercial purposes or in conjunction with a business, trade or profession and without limiting the generality of the foregoing includes any utility, van, truck, trailer, tractor and any wheeled attachment to any of them or any wheeled article designed to be an attachment to any of them, and any bus or omnibus or any earthmoving machine whether self-propelled or not. The term shall not include a vehicle designed for use as a passenger car or any trailer or other thing most commonly used as an attachment to a passenger car, or a van, utility or light truck which is rated by the manufacturer as being suitable to carry loads of not more than 1.5 tonnes. If a truck, prime mover or other vehicle is attached to a trailer, semi-trailer or any other attachment, each trailer, semi-trailer or other attachment is to be regarded as a separate commercial vehicle. A loaded combination, such as a bobcat, forklift or other vehicle or attachment loaded on a truck, trailer or other attachment is to be regarded as one commercial vehicle.
- **Commission:** means the Western Australian Planning Commission constituted under the Western Australian Planning Commission Act 1985 (as amended).
- **communications antenna:** means any mast, antenna, aerial, satellite dish and other associated equipment used for the reception or transmission of television or radio signals or for other electronic communication where its vertical or horizontal dimensions exceed two metres but does not include telecommunications infrastructure.
- **community purpose:** means the use of premises designed or adapted primarily for the provision of education, social, cultural and recreational facilities and services by organisations involved in activities for community benefit.
- $\textbf{conservation:} \ \text{means, in relation to any place on the Heritage List (Clause 5.2.2), the management of that place in a manner that will—}$
 - (a) enable the cultural heritage significance of that place to the retained; and
 - (b) yield the greatest sustainable benefit for the present community without diminishing the cultural heritage significance of that place, and may include the preservation, stabilisation, protection, restoration, reconstruction, adaptation and maintenance of that place in accordance with relevant professional standards, and the provision of an appropriate visual setting.
- **consulting rooms**: means a building used by no more than one health consultant for the investigation or treatment of human injuries or ailments and for general patient care.
- **convenience store:** means any land and or buildings used for the retail sale of convenience goods being those goods commonly sold in supermarkets, delicatessens and newsagents and may include the sale of petrol and operated during hours which may extend beyond normal trading hours. The buildings associated with a convenience store shall not exceed 200m² net leasable area.
- **convenience goods:** means goods sold or offered for sale by retail, and being goods ordinarily consumed on a regular basis by people residing in or resorting to the locality and includes food and other articles of household use, pharmaceutical products, newspapers and magazines.
- corner store: means any land and building comprising a dwelling house attached to which is a shop not exceeding 100 sq.m. gross floor area offering only convenience goods for sale (other than sale between the hours of 4.00 pm on one day and 8.00 am the following day of prepared food for immediate consumption which is prohibited), operated as an additional use by a permanent resident of the dwelling,
- Council: means Council of the City of Joondalup.
- **cultural heritage significance:** has the same meaning given to the term in the Heritage of Western Australia Act 1990.
- **curtilage:** in relation to a dwelling means the yard of the dwelling; or an area in the immediate vicinity of the dwelling, situated on the same lot as, and used for purposes ancillary to, the dwelling. The curtilage shall not include the area located between the frontage and the dwelling. The term shall have a like meaning in relation to land around buildings other than dwellings.
- **density code:** means the code based on the number of dwellings permitted per hectare as provided in the Codes. The density code applicable to any land is shown on the Residential Density Code Map.
- **department store:** means a shop which consists of a substantial number of different departments carrying a significant range of goods in each department.
- **development:** shall have the same meaning given to it in and for the purposes of the Act but shall also include in relation to any building, object, structure or place listed on the Heritage List any act or thing that—
 - (a) is likely to change the character of the place or the external appearance of any building; or
 - (b) would constitute an irreversible alteration to the fabric of any building.
- **development site:** means land the subject of an application for a Planning Approval.
- **district:** means the municipal district of the City of Joondalup.
- **drive in theatre:** means any land or buildings used to make provision for an audience to view the entertainment while seated in motor vehicles.
- **drive-through food outlet:** means a take away food outlet which includes the sale and serving of food direct to persons driving or seated in motor vehicles. The term may or may not include the preparation of food for sale and consumption within the building; or portion thereof.

dry cleaning premises: means any land or buildings used for the cleaning of garments and other fabrics by chemical processes.

dwelling: has the same meaning as that set out in the Residential Planning Codes.

educational establishment: means a school, college, university, technical institute, academy or other educational centre, training centre or a lecture hall, but does not include premises intended or used to accommodate or deal with offenders or persons undergoing punishment.

equestrian activity: means any land or buildings used for the showing, competition or training of horses and includes a riding school.

extractive industry: see industry—extractive

façade: means the exposed face of a building facing any road or open space or the frontal outward appearance of the building.

factory unit building: means a building or structure, or a group of buildings or structures on one lot, in which are carried on two or more separate industries or storage areas not owned or managed by the same person, or in which provision is made for the carrying on of two or more separate industries or storage areas not owned or managed by the same person.

family day care centre: has the same meaning as that in the Community Services (Child Care) Regulations 1988.

floor area: shall have the same meaning given to it in and for the purposes of the Building Code of Australia 1996.

frontage: when used in relation to a building that is used for—

- (a) residential purposes, has the same meaning given to the term in the Residential Planning Codes: or
- (b) purposes other than residential purposes, means the road alignment at the front of a lot and, if a lot abuts two or more roads, the one to which the building or proposed building faces.

fuel depot: means any land or building used for the storage and sale in bulk of solid or liquid or gaseous fuel, but does not include a service station and specifically excludes the sale by retail into the final user's vehicle of such fuel from the premises.

funeral parlour: means any land or buildings used to prepare and store bodies for burial or cremation and may include facilities to conduct memorial services.

garden centre: means any land or buildings used for the propagation, rearing and sale of plants and the storage and sale of products associated with horticultural and garden activities.

gazettal date: means the date on which the Scheme came into force, being the date on which notice of the Minister's approval of the Scheme is published in the *Government Gazette*.

general industry: refer industry—general.

gross floor area (GFA): has the same meaning as "floor area" in the Building Codes of Australia.

gross leasable area (GLA): means, in relation to a building, the area of all floors capable of being occupied by a tenant for his exclusive use, which area is measured from the centre lines of joint partitions or walls and from the outside faces of external walls or the building alignment, including shop fronts, basements, mezzanines and storage areas.

grouped dwelling: has the same meaning as that set out in the Residential Planning Codes.

hazardous industry: refer industry—hazardous

health studio: see recreation centre.

height: when used in relation to a building that is used for-

- (a) residential purposes, has the same meaning given to it in and for the purpose of the Residential Planning Codes; and
- (b) purposes other than residential purposes, means the measurement taken from the natural ground level immediately in front of the centre of the face of the building to a level of the top of the eaves, parapet or flat roof, whichever is the highest.

heritage list: means a list of those places which, in the opinion of the Council, are of such cultural heritage significance to the local government that conservation and protection under the provisions of this scheme is warranted.

holiday village: means composite holiday recreation development, incorporating a variety of holiday accommodation types, including caravan park, holiday cottages and motel units with directly associated facilities and services, and may include licensed premises under the Liquor Act 1970-1976 (as amended).

home business—category 1: means an occupation carried on within a dwelling by a resident of the
dwelling which—

- (a) does not entail the retail sale, display or hire of goods of any nature;
- (b) does not cause injury to or prejudicially affect the amenity of the neighbourhood;
- (c) does not entail any substantial and/or inappropriate modification of the dwelling;
- (d) does not entail employment of any other person;
- (e) does not occupy an area greater than $20m^2$ or where more than one resident is involved not cause the area used for home business within the dwelling to occupy an area greater than $30m^2$;
- (f) does not display any advertising signage;

- (g) does not attract customers or regular and frequent deliveries of goods or equipment to the site:
- (h) will not result in the requirement for a greater number of parking facilities than normally reserved for a single dwelling, and will not result in any increase in the amount of vehicular traffic in the vicinity; and
- (i) does not entail the presence, parking and garaging of a vehicle of more than 1.5 tonnes tare weight;
- (j) does not involve the servicing or repair for gain of motor vehicles.
- (k) notwithstanding factors (a)–(j); a Home Business Category 1 may entail the operation of a Family Day Care Centre as defined by Clause 1.9 of this Scheme.

home business—category 2: means an occupation carried on in a dwelling or on land around a dwelling by a resident of the dwelling which—

- (a) does not entail the retail sale, outdoor display or hire of goods of any nature;
- (b) does not cause injury to or prejudicially affect the amenity of the neighbourhood;
- (c) does not detract from the residential appearance of the dwelling house or domestic outbuilding;
- (d) entails the employment of no more than 1 person not a member of the occupier's household;
- (e) does not occupy an area greater than 30m². Council may permit an area greater than 30m² where it is considered that the scale of the business is limited by other factors and the increase in floorspace will not have a detrimental effect on the amenity of the surrounding areas:
- (f) does not have more than one advertisement sign and the sign displayed does not exceed 0.2 square metres in area;
- (g) will not result in the requirement for a greater number of parking facilities than normally reserved for a single dwelling, and will not result in a substantial increase in the amount of vehicular traffic in the vicinity;
- (h) does not involve the servicing or repair for gain of motor vehicles; and
- (i) does not entail the presence, parking and garaging of a vehicle of more than 3.5 tonnes tare weight.

home business—category 3: means an occupation or professional practice undertaken for the purposes of commercial gain; and carried on in a dwelling or on land around a dwelling by a resident of the dwelling which—

- (a) does not entail the retail sale, outdoor display or hire of goods of any nature;
- (b) does not cause injury to or prejudicially affect the amenity of the neighbourhood;
- (c) does not detract from the residential appearance of the dwelling house or domestic outbuilding;
- (d) entails employment of a maximum of 2 persons not members of the occupier's household. Council may approve a greater number of employees, not exceeding 4 persons, subject to community consultation;
- (e) occupies an area not exceeding 50 square metres. Council may approve; subject to community consultation; an area of up to 100 square metres, or one third of the floor area of the dwelling whichever is the lesser;
- (f) displays a sign describing the nature of the approved home occupation. The sign must not exceed 0.2 square metres, and a maximum 2 metres high;
- (g) will not result in the requirement for a greater number of parking facilities than those provided on the site so as to cause an unacceptable inconvenience for adjoining residents and road users:
- (h) will not result in a substantial increase in the amount of vehicular traffic in the vicinity;
- (i) does not involve the servicing or repair for gain of motor vehicles; and
- does not entail the presence, parking and garaging of a vehicle of more than 3.5 tonnes tare weight.

hospital: means any land or buildings where people are admitted and lodged for medical treatment or care.

hotel: means any land or buildings used for the overnight accommodation of patrons and may include facilities for consumption of beverages or a restaurant, or a betting agency operated in accordance with the Totalisator Agency Betting Board Act 1960, or facilities for entertainment, but does not include a bed and breakfast facility, and which may be the subject of a hotel licence granted under the provisions of the Liquor Licensing Act 1988.

incidental use: means a use of premises which is ancillary and subordinate to the predominant use. **industry:** means the carrying out of any process for and incidental to—

- (a) making, altering, repairing, ornamenting, painting, finishing, cleaning, packing, canning, adapting, breaking up or demolishing of any article or part of any article;
- (b) winning, processing or treatment of minerals;
- (c) generation of electricity or the production of gas;
- (d) the manufacture of edible goods; and includes, when carried out on land upon which the process is carried out and in connection with that process, the storage of goods, any work of administration or accounting,

or the wholesaling of, or the incidental sale of goods resulting from the process, and the use of land for the amenity of persons engaged in the process; but does not include—

- (i) the carrying out of agriculture;
- (ii) on-site work on buildings or land; and
- (iii) in the case of edible goods the preparation of food for retail sale from the premises.
- (e) depots for bulk storage and distribution purposes.

industry—extractive: means the extraction of sand, gravel, clay, peat, soil, rock, stone, minerals or any similar substance from land, and includes the manufacture of products from those materials when the manufacture and storage is carried out on the land from which any of those materials is extracted or on land adjacent thereto.

industry—general: means an industry other than an extractive, hazardous, light or rural industry. **industry—hazardous:** means an industry which, when in operation and when all measures proposed

to minimise its impact on the locality have been employed (including measures to isolate the industry from existing or likely future development on other land in the locality), would pose a significant risk in relation to the locality, to human health, life or property, or to the biophysical environment. Examples of such industry include oil refineries and chemical plants but would generally exclude light, rural or service industries.

industry-light: means an industry-

- (a) in which the processes carried on, the machinery used, and the goods and commodities carried to and from the premises, will not cause any injury to, or will not adversely affect the amenity of the locality by reason of the emission of light, noise, electrical interference, vibration, smell, fumes, smoke, vapour, steam, soot, ash, dust, waste water or other waste products; and
- (b) the establishment of which will not, or the conduct of which does not, impose an undue load on any existing or proposed service for the supply or provision of water, gas, electricity, sewerage facilities, or any other like services.

industry—rural: means an industry handling, treating, processing or packing primary products grown, reared or produced in the locality, and a workshop servicing plant or equipment used for rural purposes in the locality.

institutional building: means a building used or designed for use wholly or principally for the purpose
 of—

- (a) a hospital or sanitarium for the treatment of infectious or contagious diseases;
- (b) a penal or reformative institution;
- (c) a hospital for the treatment of the mentally handicapped;
- (d) any other similar use.

kennels: means any land or buildings used for the boarding and breeding of dogs for remuneration where such premises are registered or required to be registered by the Council, and may include the sale of dogs.

land: shall have the same meaning given to the term in and for the purposes of the Act.

landscape supplies: means any land or buildings used for the storage and sale of items such as woodchips, logs, rocks, sand, stone, paving slabs and other such materials.

liquor store: means any land or buildings the subject of a liquor store licence granted under the provisions of the Liquor Licensing Act 1988.

lot: shall have the same meaning as is given to it in and for the purposes of the Act and "allotment" has the same meaning, but shall not include a Strata or survey Strata lot.

local reserve: means land, other than a regional reserve, which is reserved for a specific purpose.

lunch bar: means premises used as a take away food outlet but within the hours of 9.00am to 3.00pm only.

markets (retail): means retail premises at which goods are sold from temporary stalls in individual bays leased to or otherwise occupied by independent stallholders.

mast or antenna: means any mast, aerial, satellite dish and other associated equipment used for the transmission or reception of radio or television signals or for other electronic communications. A television antenna on a dwelling roof being consistent with the predominant style and size of television antenna on other dwellings in the locality is not included, provided its vertical and horizontal dimensions do not exceed two metres. (See "communications antenna".)

medical centre: means premises accommodating two or more consulting rooms, including other ancillary uses such as pathologist and radiologist.

Metropolitan Region Scheme: means the Metropolitan Region Scheme made pursuant to the Metropolitan Region Town Planning Scheme Act 1959 published in the *Government Gazette* of August 9, 1963, and as amended from time to time.

 $\textbf{Metropolitan Region Scheme Reserve:} \ means \ land \ reserved \ under \ the \ Metropolitan \ Region \ Scheme.$

Minister: means the Minister for Planning or the Minister in the Western Australian Government responsible for town planning.

motel: means premises used to accommodate patrons in a manner similar to an hotel but at which special provision is made for the accommodation of patrons with motor vehicles and which does not operate with an Hotel or Limited Hotel Licence, or a Cabaret Licence or a Tavern Licence or a Special Facility Licence.

multiple dwelling: has the same meaning as that set out in the Residential Planning Codes.

net lettable area: means the area of all floors confined within the finished surfaces of permanent walls but excludes the following areas—

- (a) all stairs, toilets, cleaners' cupboards, lift shafts and motor rooms, escalators, tea rooms and plant rooms, and other service areas;
- (b) lobbies between lifts facing other lifts serving the same floor;
- (c) areas set aside as public space or thoroughfares and not for the exclusive use of occupiers of the floor or building;
- (d) areas set aside for the provision of facilities or services to the floor or building where such facilities are not for the exclusive use of occupiers of the floor or building.

night club: means any land or buildings used to provide entertainment and dancing and may include the provision of food and drink for consumption on the premises, but does not include the sale of packaged liquor or gaming and to which a licence under the provisions of the Liquor Licensing Act 1988 may have been granted.

non-conforming use: means a use of land which although lawful immediately prior to the coming into operation of the Scheme is not in conformity with a provision of the Scheme dealing with the zoning or classification of land and the permissibility of uses on land so zoned or classified. The term shall apply in the same way to a use becoming unlawful as a result of an amendment of the Scheme. A use is not lawful for the purpose of this definition if any planning approval of the Council or other planning authority was not obtained.

nursing home: means premises in which persons who do not require constant medical attention are received as patients and lodged for the purposes of medical supervision and nursing care.

office: means any premises used for the administration of clerical, technical, professional or other like business activities but does not include administration facilities which are required in association with a predominant use on site, and does not include consulting rooms or medical centres.

open air display: means the use of a site external to a building for the display and / or sale of goods or equipment.

owner: in relation to any land, includes the Crown and every person who jointly or severally whether at law or in equality—

- (a) is entitled to the land for any estate in fee simple in possession; or
- (b) is a person to whom the Crown has lawfully contracted to grant the fee simple of the land; or
- (c) is a lessee or licensee from the Crown; or
- (d) is entitled to receive or is in receipt of, or if the lands were let to a tenant, would be entitled to receive the rents and profits thereof whether as a beneficial owner, trustee, mortgagee in possession, or otherwise.

parking bay: see car parking bay.

park home park: has the same meaning as in the Caravan Parks and Camping Grounds Regulations 1997.

Part: means one of the Parts of the Scheme.

piggery: shall have the same meaning given to the term in and for the purposes of the Health Act 1911.

place: means an area of land sufficiently identified by survey, description or otherwise as to be readily ascertainable, and includes—

- (a) an area of land situated below low water mark on the seashore or on the bank of tidal waters, or in the bed of any watercourse, lake or estuary;
- (b) any works or buildings situated there, their contents relevant to the purpose of this Scheme, and such of their immediate surroundings as may be required for the purposes of the conservation of those works or buildings; and
- (c) as much of the land beneath the place as is required for the purposes of its conservation.

place of assembly: means premises where the public assemble or go for any cultural, religious, recreational, sporting or other activity save that where the scale of development proposed is greater than can be reasonably accommodated in any area, the use shall be dealt with as a "Special Place of Assembly".

place of worship: means premises used for religious activities such as a church, chapel, mosque, synagogue or temple.

premises: means any land, building or part thereof.

private recreation: means land used for parks, gardens, playgrounds, sports arenas, or other grounds for recreation which are not usually open to the public without charge.

proponent: means a person or body who is applying or has applied to the Council for Planning Approval or an amendment to the Scheme, or who is applying or has applied to the Commission for approval to subdivide or amalgamate land. The term includes the Council proposing development or otherwise opting to initiate the preparation of Structure Plan or a person or body who is submitting or has submitted a Structure Plan under Part 9 of the Scheme.

public authority: shall have the same meaning given to it in and for the purposes of the Act.

public exhibition facility: means any premises used for the public display of materials, of an artistic, cultural or historical nature, or for educational purposes and includes a museum or art gallery and may include sales of such materials.

public purposes: includes Government and Local Authority Purposes.

public utility: means any work or undertaking constructed or maintained by a public authority or municipality as may be required to provide water, sewerage, electricity, gas, drainage, communications, passenger transport or other similar services.

reception centre: means premises which may include catering facilities used for functions on formal or ceremonial occasions but not for unhosted use for general entertainment purposes.

recreation centre: means any premises used for physical exercise or sports including swimming, ice skating, ten pin bowling, cricket, tennis, squash, soccer, billiards and similar activities.

relevant date: means the Gazettal Date or the date any relevant amendment to the Scheme is published in the *Government Gazette*.

reserve: means any land reserved for a public purpose.

residential building: has the same meaning given to it in the Residential Planning Codes.

resort: means any land or buildings used for the overnight or holiday accommodation of patrons in self-contained units or apartments and may include incidental on-site recreational facilities such as golf, swimming, bike riding, tennis, bowls, fishing, and may also include restaurants, shops and entertainment facilities, with all or most facilities usually being limited for the convenience of residents.

restaurant: means any premises where the predominant use is the preparation of food for sale and consumption within the building or portion thereof. The expression may include the sale of food for consumption off the premises, where Council is of the opinion that it is incidental to the business. The term may include an outdoor eating area which shall be treated as being within the building of the Restaurant. The expression excludes Drive Through Food Outlets.

restricted premises: means any premises used or designed to be used primarily for the sale by retail or wholesale, or the offer for hire, loan or exchange, or the exhibition, display or delivery of—

- (a) publications that are classified as restricted publications pursuant to the Indecent Publications and Articles Act 1902 (as amended); or
- (b) materials, compounds, preparations or articles which are used or intended to be used primarily on or in connection with any form of sexual behaviour or activities.

retirement village: means any land or buildings used to accommodate aged persons and retirees together with ancillary facilities.

roadhouse: means any land or buildings used for the predominant purpose of a service station but incidentally including a restaurant and/or convenience store.

road verge: see street verge.

rural use: means agriculture, horticulture and may include aquaculture, and includes the raising of livestock and the retail sale of the produce of the property where satisfactory access and parking can be provided, and provided that any processing of the produce prior to sale can take place on site.

salvage yard: means any land or buildings used for the storage and sale of materials salvaged from the erection, demolition, dismantling or renovating of, or fire or flood damage to structures including (but without limiting the generality of the foregoing) buildings, machinery, vehicles and boats.

Schedule: means a schedule to the Scheme.

Scheme: means the City of Joondalup District Planning Scheme No. 2.

Scheme Area: means the whole of the District of the City of Joondalup as shown by the inner edge of the broken black line on the Scheme Map.

service station: means premises used for the retail sale of petroleum products and motor vehicle accessories and goods of an incidental/convenience retail nature, and for carrying out greasing, tyre repairs or minor mechanical repairs to motor vehicles, but does not include a transport depot, panel beating, spray painting, major repairs or wrecking.

set back: means the horizontal distance between a wall at any point and an adjacent lot boundary measured at right angles (90°) to the wall.

shop: means premises where goods are kept exposed or offered for sale by retail. This interpretation excludes restricted premises, but may include a bakery.

showroom: means premises wherein goods are displayed and may be offered for sale or hire excluding the sale of foodstuffs, liquor or beverages, items of clothing or apparel (except as hereinafter stipulated in this definition) or personal adornment, magazines, books, newspapers or paper products, and medicinal or pharmaceutical products unless assembled or manufactured on the premises. The term includes the sale of secondhand clothing or apparel by welfare and charitable agencies with the approval of Council.

single house: has the same meaning given to the term in the Residential Planning Codes.

special place of assembly: means premises used for a sports stadium, racecourse, showground, fun fair, multi-purpose sporting recreational complex, or other amusements. These uses require special siting to provide for large numbers of spectators, car parking, landscaping and protection of amenity.

stables: means any land, building or structure used for the housing, keeping and feeding of horses, asses and mules and associated incidental activities.

storage yard: means any land or buildings used for the storage of goods, equipment, plant or materials related to a particular trade.

street alignment: means the boundary between the land comprising a road reserve and the land that abuts thereon.

street verge: means the land between the street alignment of any lot and the road pavement.

structure plan: means a document consisting of maps and text making provision for the subdivision and/or development of a specific area, and when certified under Part 9 of the Scheme provides a policy framework for such future subdivision and development.

substantial development: means in relation to a building the completion of the floor slab as defined in the Building Code of Australia 1988 (as amended).

take away food outlet: means premises used for the preparation, sale and serving of food to customers in a form ready to be eaten without further preparation, primarily off the premises, but excludes Drive Through Food Outlet.

tavern: means any land or buildings wherein the primary use is the consumption of beverages and may include a restaurant or facilities for entertainment and to which a licence may have been granted under the provisions of the Liquor Licensing Act 1988.

theatre: means any land or building where the public may view a theatrical production.

trade display: means the use of any land or building for the moderate and controlled display of trade goods and equipment for advertisement as approved by the Council.

transport depot: means any land or building designed and used, or which is adapted for use for one or more of the following purposes—

- (a) for the parking or garaging of more than four commercial vehicles;
- (b) for the transfer of goods or passengers from one vehicle to another vehicle;

and may include the maintenance, mechanical repair or refuelling of the vehicles referred to in (a) or (b) above but does not include any of the functions defined under Vehicle Repairs.

vehicle: includes motorcycles, boats, caravans and trailers

vehicle sales and hire premises: means any land or buildings used for the display, sale or hire of new or second-hand vehicles, and may include the servicing of such goods sold from the site.

vehicle repairs: means land and buildings used for, or in connection with, vehicle body repairs including panel beating, spray painting, chassis reshaping, application and sanding down of vehicle body filler.

vehicle washing: see car wash.

vehicle wrecking: means any land or buildings used for the storage, breaking up or dismantling of motor vehicles and includes the sale of second-hand motor vehicle accessories and spare parts.

veterinary consulting rooms: means a building in which a veterinary surgeon or veterinarian treats the minor ailments of domestic animals and household pets as patients. No animal undergoing treatment may remain on the premises overnight.

veterinary hospital: means the use of any land or buildings for the treatment of minor or major ailments of animals, and includes the accommodation of animals undergoing treatment.

warehouse: means premises used for storage of goods and the carrying out of commercial transactions involving the sale of such goods by wholesale.

wholesale: means the sale of any goods to any person or persons other than the ultimate consumer of those goods.

winery: means any land or buildings used for the production and/or sale to the public of viticulture produce.

zone: means a portion of the Scheme Area shown on the map by distinctive colouring, hatching, or edging for the purpose of indicating the restrictions imposed by the Scheme on the erection and use of buildings or the use of land, but does not include reserved land.

SCHEDULE 2—SECTION 1 (CLAUSE 3.15)—ADDITIONAL USES

No.	Street/Locality	Particulars of Land	Additional Use
1-1	30 Hocking Road Kingsley	Lot 500	Fresh Fruit & Vegetables Market & Incidental Shop—Sales & Storage Area not Exceeding 400m ²
1-2	2 Somersby Gardens Currambine	Lot 158	Corner Store excluding the preparation, sale and serving of food to customers in a form ready to be eaten without further preparation primarily off the premises
1-3	58 New Cross Road Kingsley	Lot 284	Place of Worship
1-4	123 Kingsley Drive Kingsley	Lot 1	Medical Centre
1-5	28 Seacrest Drive Sorrento	Lot 51	Medical Centre
1-6	291 Warwick Road Greenwood	Lot 22	Medical Centre
1-7	295 Warwick Road Greenwood	Lot 692	Medical Centre
1-8	315 Warwick Road Greenwood	Lot 1	Medical Centre

No.	Street/Locality	Particulars of Land	Additional Use
1-9	31 Linear Avenue Mullaloo	Lot 1	Medical Centre
1-10	6 Marina Boulevard Ocean Reef	Lot 100	Service Station
1-11	94 Caridean Street Heathridge	Lot 550	Veterinary Consulting Rooms
1-12	75 Gibson Avenue Padbury	Lot 30	Veterinary Consulting Rooms
1-13	3 Castlegate Way Woodvale	Lot 74	Veterinary Consulting Rooms
1-14	2 Warburton Avenue Padbury	Lot 1	Service Station
1-15	20 Banks Avenue Hillarys	Lot 243	Medical Centre
1-16	22 Banks Avenue Hillarys	Lot 242	Medical Centre
1-17	29 Green Road Hillarys	Lot 245	Medical Centre
1-18	31 Green Road Hillarys	Lot 244	Medical Centre

SCHEDULE 2—SECTION 2 (CLAUSE 3.16)—RESTRICTED USES

No.	Street/Locality	Particulars of Land	Restricted Use
2-1	6 Davallia Road Duncraig	Lot 10	Consulting Rooms, Educational Establishment, Health Centre, Health Studio, Laundrette, Medical Clinic, Office, Private Recreation, Public Amusement, Restaurant, Service Industry, Showroom, Veterinary Consulting Rooms, Video Library, Warehouse
2-2	203 Warwick Road Duncraig	Lot 8	Drive-Through Food Outlet

SCHEDULE 2—SECTION 3 (CLAUSE 3.17)—SPECIAL USE ZONES

No.	Street/Locality	Particulars of Land	Special Use
3-1	265 Eddystone Avenue Beldon	Lot 656	Office, Hardware, Garden Centre (700m²) and Medical Centre

SCHEDULE 3 (SUBCLAUSES 3.7.2 & 3.11.4) - COMMERCIAL & CENTRE ZONES COMMERCIAL AND CENTRE ZONES: RETAIL NET LETTABLE AREA

LOCALITY	DESCRIPTION OF CENTRE AND COMMERCIAL ZONES	NLA (m²)
BELDON (Beldon Shopping Centre)	Lot 519 (9) Gunter Grove	4500
BELDON (Belridge Shopping Centre)	Lot 3 (36) Gwendoline Drive	4000
CONNOLLY	Lot 406 (1) Glenelg Place	3000
CRAIGIE (Craigie Plaza)	Lot 673 (15) Perilya Road	3500
CURRAMBINE DISTRICT CENTRE	Lot 929 (350) Shenton Avenue	10000
CURRAMBINE	Lot 998 Connolly Drive	3000
DUNCRAIG (Carine Glades)	Lot 11 (485) Beach Road	2500
DUNCRAIG	Lot 703 (50) Marri Road	3000
DUNCRAIG (Glengarry)	Lot 1 (59) Arnisdale Road	2500
DUNCRAIG (Duncraig Village)	Lot 526 (8) Burragah Way	1500
DUNCRAIG	Lot 500 (75) Hilarion Road	1000
EDGEWATER	Lot 100 (1) Wisteria Parade	2000
GREENWOOD (Coolibah Plaza)	Lot 1 (132) Coolibah Drive	1500
GREENWOOD (Greenwood Village)	Lot 2 (18) Calectasia Street	5000
GREENWOOD (Greenwood/Kingsley Shopping Plaza)	Lot 1 (120) Cockman Road	1000
HEATHRIDGE (Heathridge Shopping Centre)	Lot 741 (89) Caridean Street	2000
HEATHRIDGE (Heathridge City)	Lot 740 (99) Caridean Street	1500
HILLARYS REGIONAL CENTRE (Whitford City)	Lot 501 (470) Whitfords Avenue	50000
HILLARYS	Lot 714 (114) Flinders Avenue/Waterford Drive	3000

LOCALITY	DESCRIPTION OF CENTRE AND COMMERCIAL ZONES	NLA (m²)
JOONDALUP (Candlewood Village)	Lot 503 (45) Candlewood Boulevard	2000
KALLAROO (Kallaroo Shopping Ctre)	Lot 319 (3) Adalia Street Lot 19 (5) Adalia Street / Batavia Place	500 500
KINGSLEY	Lot 4 (100) Kingsley Drive Lot 3 (66) Creaney Drive	2500 2000
KINGSLEY (Moolanda Village)	Lot 28 (127) Moolanda Blvd	1000
KINGSLEY (Boulevard Plaza)	Lot 551 (9) Moolanda Blvd	1000
KINROSS	Lot 1255 (59) Kinross Drive	1000
KINROSS	Portion Lot 2 (400) Burns Beach Road (East)	3000
KINROSS	Portion Lot 2 (400) Burns Beach Road (North)	500
MARMION (Marmion Village)	Lot 3 (19) Sheppard Way	2500
MULLALOO (Mullaloo Plaza)	Lot 251 (11) Koorana Road Lot 253 (23) Koorana Road	2500 500
MULLALOO (Beach Store)	Lot 100 (10) Oceanside Promenade	500
OCEAN REEF	Lot 12 (82) Marina Boulevard	2500
OCEAN REEF (Beaumaris City)	Lot 1 (68) Constellation Drive	3000
PADBURY (Forrest Plaza)	Lot 38 (4) Alexander Road	1000
PADBURY	Lot 26 (75) Warburton Avenue	3000
PADBURY	Lot 24 (73) Gibson Avenue	1000
PADBURY	Lot 195 (6) Blackwattle Parade	2000
SORRENTO	Lot 2 (130) West Coast Dr Lots 148/149 West Coast Dr	1000 1000
SORRENTO (Seacrest Village)	Lot 15 (15) Harman Road	1000
WARWICK (Warwick Grove)	Lot 928 (643) Beach Road Lot 906 (647) Beach Road Lot 738 (16) Dugdale Street	38000
WOODVALE (Woodvale Boulevard)	Lot 6 (931) Whitfords Avenue	5500
WOODVALE	Lot 1 (153) Trappers Drive	4000

SCHEDULE 4 (SUBCLAUSE 5.1.5)—EXEMPTED ADVERTISEMENTS

All signs or advertising devices for which a licence is required under the Council's Signs Local Law other than a roof sign and any sign or advertising device that is proposed and will exceed the provisions of the Signs Hoardings and Billpostings By-laws.

- (a) a sign erected or maintained in accordance with an Act;
- (b) a property disposal sign not exceeding 1.2m² erected on private property or immediately adjacent to the front boundary, where it is not possible to erect it on private property;
- (c) a plate not exceeding $0.2m^2$ in area erected or affixed on the street alignment or between that alignment and the building line to indicate the name and occupation or profession of the occupier of the premises;
- (d) a direction sign;
- (e) a sign used solely for the direction and control of people, animals or vehicles or to indicate the name or street number of a premises, if the area of the sign does not exceed 0.2m²;
- (f) an advertisement affixed to or painted on a shop window by the occupier thereof and relating to the business carried on therein;
- (g) a sign displaying solely the name and occupation of any occupier of business premises painted on a window or wall of those premises providing that the sign does not exceed 1.2m² in area and a height of 600mm;
- (h) a sign within a building unless—
 - (i) it is clearly visible from a public place outside the building;
 - (ii) it is exempted under any other paragraph of this sub clause; or
 - (iii) it is considered objectionable by the local government;
- (i) a sign not larger than 0.6m x 0.9m on an advertising pillar or panel approved by or with the consent of the local government for the purpose of displaying public notices for information;
- (j) a building name sign on any building, where it is of a single line of letters not exceeding 300mm in height, fixed to the facade of the building;
- (k) newspaper or magazine posters, provided they are displayed against the outside wall of the business premises from which the newspapers or magazines are sold;
- (l) a rural producer's sign which is the only sign on the lot on which it is erected;

- (m) a sign erected by the local government, or with the approval of the local government, on land under the care, control and management of the local government;
- (n) a sign erected and maintained on street furniture, bus shelters or seats in accordance with the terms and conditions of a contract between the local government and the company responsible for those signs;
- (o) a maximum of 4 garage sale signs, each not greater than 0.25m², advertising the sale of second hand domestic goods in domestic quantities, not being part of a business, trade or profession and only being displayed on the day of the sale and on no more than 2 occasions for the same lot in each 6 month period;
- (p) a sign or signs erected in accordance with a special event permit issued under the City of Joondalup Signs Local Law;
- (q) a sign painted on a kerb, adjacent to a property depicting the house number and in accordance with specifications approved by the local government.
- (r) a sign erected by the local government for the purpose of—
 - (i) encouraging participation in voting (but not in favour of any candidate, political party, group or thing) at a local government election, provided that the signs are erected no more than 5 weeks prior to the election; or
 - (ii) indicating the name and location of a polling place for an election.

The advertising devices exempted above exclude signs which contain any illumination or radio; animation or movement in its design or structure; reflective; retro-reflective or fluorescent materials in its design or structure.

SCHEDULE 5 (CLAUSE 5.3.1)—PLACES AND OBJECTS HAVING SIGNIFICANCE FOR THE PURPOSE OF PROTECTION OF THE LANDSCAPE OR ENVIRONMENT

Locality	Address	Description
Joondalup	Reserve 28544 (200) Boas Avenue	Neil Hawkins Park
Joondalup	Loc 412 (218L) Lakeside Drive	Yellagonga Regional Park Landscape Precinct
Kingsley	Reserve 26052 (59) Shepherds Bush Drive	Shepherds Bush Reserve
Padbury	Reserve 42987 (319) Hepburn Avenue	Hepburn Conservation Area
Padbury	Reserve 25746 (750) Whitfords Avenue	Pinnaroo Valley Memorial Park

SCHEDULE 6 (CLAUSE 8.6)—DELEGATION OF DEVELOPMENT CONTROL POWERS

The Council may delegate its powers under the provisions of clause 8.6 to any of the following-

- (i) a member of the Council being the Chairman of the Committee required at the direction of Council to consider and report upon town planning matters within the district, and being qualified by experience with the work of any such committee, and/or
- (ii) that officer or those officers of the authority, holding or eligible to hold a Municipal Town Planner's Certificate appointed to the position of Town Planner for the purposes of the Local Government Act with overall responsibility for the planning function of the Council or appointed by the Council to supervise the town planning control functions of the Council.

or those persons who from time to time occupy any of the positions referred to above.

SCHEDULE 7 (CLAUSE 9.3)—STRUCTURE PLANS: MATTERS TO BE INCLUDED

Structure plans include plans and written texts and shall be accompanied by any other documents which the Council may require.

PART A—PLANS AND WRITTEN TEXTS

Plans shall be drawn to a scale clearly illustrating the intent of the structure plan. Structure plans shall include any of the following matters that the Council considers appropriate in relation to the nature of the structure plan—

- (a) the area covered by the structure plan in relation to surrounding landholdings;
- (b) contours and main physical/natural features including the identification of areas of high conservation value;
- (c) land reserved by the Metropolitan Region Scheme;
- (d) environmental considerations;
- (e) a comprehensive summary of the opportunities for and constraints to development;
- (f) proposed major land uses in particular residential areas, public open space, school sites, community purpose sites and commercial uses (including the location and hierarchy of centres and the net lettable area for shops);
- (g) residential densities including estimates of future population and dwellings;
- (h) location of industrial and business areas including estimates of future employment opportunities;
- retail strategy and hierarchy of commercial centres together with estimates of retail floor space;

- (j) provision for major infrastructure including main drainage, sewerage, water supply and other key infrastructure services;
- (k) indicative lot patterns and general location of major buildings;
- (l) provision for emergency services including police, ambulance and fire services;
- (m) road network down to the level of local distributor roads, including any road widenings and proposed bus routes and the relationship to the surrounding area and surrounding roads;
- (n) public transport routes and corridors, and existing and proposed transit stations;
- (o) main cycle and pedestrian networks;
- (p) estimates for the staging of development;
- (q) structure plans and policies of the Commission;
- (r) the objectives for the development and future use of the area covered by the plan;
- (s) justification for and an explanation of the proposal;
- (t) the obligations of the parties involved including private/public funding responsibilities;
- (u) developer/proponent contributions towards the provision of infrastructure (including roads, drainage reserves, public open space and community purpose sites);
- (v) the time frame and an explanation of how the development will progress if it is staged;
- (w) special development control provisions
- (x) the maximum gross leasable area to be developed;
- (y) provision for vehicular access and parking;
- (z) provision for the size, location, orientation, and design of buildings and open spaces;
- (aa) provision for the design and location of signage, landscaping and street furniture;
- (ab) types of industrial and related uses within industrial areas and the location of such uses within those areas:
- (ac) advice from relevant Government agencies regarding the compatibility of the proposal with adopted Government policies and strategies.

PART B-OTHER DOCUMENTS

Other documents which the Council may require to be submitted with structure plans include—

- (a) letters received from consultation with servicing authorities;
- (b) letters from the owners of all land within the structure plan area indicating their agreement to the structure plan;
- (c) public submissions;
- (d) relevant extracts of minutes.

SCHEDULE 8 (CLAUSE 9.6)—CERTIFICATION OF AGREED STRUCTURE PLANS
CERTIFIED THAT AGREED STRUCTURE PLAN/20
WAS ADOPTED BY
RESOLUTION OF THE WESTERN AUSTRALIAN PLANNING
COMMISSION ON
Chairperson, Western Australian Planning Commission
AND BY
RESOLUTION OF THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF
JOONDALUP ON
AND THE SEAL OF THE MUNICIPALITY WAS PURSUANT
TO THE COUNCIL'S RESOLUTION HEREUNTO AFFIXED IN THE
PRESENCE OF—
Mayor, City of Joondalup

Chief Executive Officer, City of Joondalup

SCHEDULE 9 (CLAUSE 4.6)—ENVIRONMENTAL CONDITIONS

SCHEME OR GAZETTAL DATE ENVIRONMENTAL CONDITIONS

No environmental conditions are applicable to the Scheme area.

CITY OF JOONDALUP DISTRICT PLANNING SCHEME NO. 2

Adopted by resolution of the Council of the City of Wanneroo at the Ordinary meeting of the Council held on the 27th day of March 1991.

Modified by resolution of the Council of the City of Wanneroo at the Special meeting of the Council held on the 22^{nd} day of August 1996.

Modified by resolution of the Council of the City of Wanneroo at the Special meeting of the Council held on the $10^{\rm th}$ day of September 1997.

On July 1, 1998, the City of Wanneroo ceased to exist. In its place, the City of Joondalup and the Shire of Wanneroo were created, with both municipalities coming into existence on the same date, July 1, 1998.

Adopted for final approval by resolution of the City of Joondalup at the Ordinary meeting of the Council held on the 22^{nd} day of September 1998.

Modified and adopted for final approval by resolution of the City of Joondalup at the Special meeting of the Council held on the 4^{th} day of May 1999.

Adopted for final approval by the Council of the City of Joondalup at the Ordinary meeting held on the 26^{th} day of September 2000 and the Common Seal of the City of Joondalup was hereunto affixed by the authority of a resolution of the Council in the presence of—

	J. BOMBAK, Mayor L. DELAHAUNTY, Chief Executive Officer
	
Recommended/Submitted for final approval—	V. McMULLEN, for Chairperson, Western Australian
Date 26/10/2000.	Planning Commission.
Final Approval Granted—	
Date 17/11/2000.	G. KIERATH, Minister for Planning

Public Notices

ZZ201

TRUSTEES ACT 1962

NOTICE TO CREDITORS AND CLAIMANTS

In the Estate of Helen Margaret Schulstad, late of 72 Terrace Road, Guildford in the State of Western Australia, Volunteer Welfare Worker, deceased.

Creditors and other persons having a claim (to which Section 63 of the Trustees Act, 1962 relates) in respect of Helen Margaret Schulstad, deceased, who died on the 2nd day of September 1999 in the said State are hereby required by the Executors of the said deceased, Susan Winstanley Bolto and John Walter Saleeba both of Perth to send particulars of their claims to Messrs. Clayton Utz, 108 St George's Terrace, Perth, Reference JWS: 61014166 by 4th January 2001 after which date the Executors may convey or distribute the assets having regard only to the claims of which they then have notice.

7.7.202

TRUSTEES ACT 1962

NOTICE TO CREDITORS AND CLAIMANTS

Creditors and other persons having claims (to which Section 63 of the Trustees Act 1962 relates) in respect of the estates of the undermentioned deceased persons, are required to send particulars of their claim to Trustees of Western Australia Limited of Level 22, 108 St George's Terrace Perth on or before the expiration of one month from the date of publication of this notice after which date the Company may convey or distribute the assets, having regard only to the claims of which it then has notice—

Parsons, Percy Spencer, late of Unit 46/2 Hungerford Avenue, Halls Head, Retired School Teacher, died on the 19th of October 2000.

Strickland, Vivienne Luciele Rae, late of 5 Cann Road, Attadale, Widow died on the 2nd of October 2000

Dated this 24th day of November 2000.

Mr A. J. H. (Howden) McDONALD, Trust Officer.

WESTERN AUSTRALIA

FREEDOM OF INFORMATION ACT 1992

*Price: \$12.45 Counter Sales
Plus Postage on 365 grams

* Prices subject to change on addition of amendments.

WESTERN AUSTRALIA

YOUNG OFFENDERS ACT 1994

*Price: \$24.90 Counter Sales Plus Postage on 300 grams

YOUNG OFFENDERS REGULATIONS 1995

*Price \$4.45 Counter Sales Plus Postage on 65 grams

*Prices subject to change on addition of amendments.

